



Monster Combat Summaries: Banshee-Mist

Banshee (MM): AC 0; MV 15; HD 7; hp 37; THAC0 13; #AT 1; Dmg 1d8 (claw); SA death keen; SD fear, +1 or better weapon to hit, senses living creatures within 5 miles, immune to *charm*, *sleep*, *hold*, cold and electricity; SW *dispel evil* kills, cannot keen during day, holy water inflicts 2d4 damage; MR 50%; SZ M (5' tall); ML elite (13); Int exc (16); AL CE; XP 4,000.

SA: The banshee can keen once per day, requiring all living creatures within 30' to save vs. death magic; failure indicates instant death.

SD: Fear—upon first sight, all heroes must successfully save vs. spell or flee for 10 rounds (50% chance to drop held items).

SW: Banshee is turned on the "special" column.

Bat, large (MM): AC 8; MV 3, FI 18(C); HD 1; hp 6; THAC0 19; #AT 1; Dmg 1d4 (bite); SA 1% chance of rabies per bite (disease); SD bonus to AC in flight; SW must land to bite; SZ M (6' wingspan); ML unsteady (5); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 35.

SD: The large bat enjoys an AC bonus of 3 vs. missile weapons fired by a character with a Dex of 13 or less.

Bear, brown (MM): AC 6; MV 12; HD 5+5; hp 31; THAC0 15; #AT 3; Dmg 1d6/1d6/1d8 (claw/claw/bite); SA hug, fights with negative hp; SZ L (9'+ tall); ML avg (8); Int semi (2); AL N; XP 420.

SA: Hug—if a claw hits on a roll of 18 or higher, the bear hugs for an additional 2d6 damage. Fights—the bear continues to fight for 1d4 rounds if reduced to 0 to –8 hp.

Beetle, giant, rhinoceros (MM): AC 2; MV 6; HD 12; hp 59; THAC0 9; #AT 2; Dmg 3d6/2d8 (bite/horn); SZ L (12' long); ML elite (14); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 4,000.

Beetle, scarab, monstrous (MC3): AC 2; MV 9, Br 3; HD 8; hp 53; THACO 13; #AT 1; Dmg 4d6 (bite); SZ L (11' long); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP 1,400.

Carrion stalker (MC3): AC 2; MV 9; HD 4; hp 17; THAC0 17; #AT 1d8 or 1; Dmg 1d4 per hit or special (tendrils or spawn); SA entrapment, speed imposes –2 penalty to opponents' surprise and initiative rolls; SD immune to poison and disease, half of damage suffered goes to caught victim); SZ T (1' long); ML avg (10); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 650.

Dmg: Special—the stalker sprays a cloud containing 1d6+3 larvae on caught victims within 3', inflicting 1-hp damage apiece per round.

SA: If even one tendril hits, the victim must save. vs paralyzation or become entangled; assess a -1 attack penalty per striking tendril.

Centipede, giant (MM): AC 9; MV 15; hp 2; THAC0 20; #AT 1; Dmg nil; SA poison paralyzes for 2d6 rounds (+4 to victim's save); SW –1 to all saving throws; SZ T (1'long); ML unsteady (6); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 35.

Elemental, blood (MC1): AC 0; MV 12; HD 12; hp 59; THAC0 9; #AT 1; Dmg 3d6 (tentacle); SA smothering; SD +2 or better weapon to hit, unhindered by *protection from evil*; SW immersion in water inflicts 1d10 damage per round; SZ L (12' tall); ML champion (16); Int low (5); AL N; XP 7,000.

SA: Struck victims must save vs. spell to avoid blood drain, doubling inflicted damage and adding drained hp to the elemental's total (max. 96 hp). Smothering— The elemental can use its attack roll to smother a victim, who is allowed a save vs. death magic to avoid choking on blood (use drowning rules; see the *DMG*).

Geist (MC3): AC 10; MV FI 12(A); HD nil; THAC0 nil; #AT 0; Dmg nil; SA invisible at will, sight prompts fear (sometimes horror) checks; SD invulnerable; SW destroyed by *abjure, banishment, dismissal, holy word, wish*; MR 100% except to listed spells; SZ M (6' tall); ML fearless (19); Int varies; AL varies; XP 0. Ghost (MM): AC 0; MV 9; HD 10; hp 51; THACO 11; #AT 1;

Dmg age 10d4 years (touch); SA *fear, magic jar* within 60'; SD difficult to attack, immune to nonmagical weapons; SW 2d4 damage from holy water if semi-ethereal; SZ M (6' tall);

ML fearless (20); Int high (14); AL LE; XP 7,000.

SA: Fear—first sight requires a save vs. spell to avoid aging 10 years and fleeing for 2d6 rounds. (Priests above 6th level are immune, and all characters above 8th level receive a +2 bonus to the save.)

SD: Difficult to attack—a ghost cannot be attacked while ethereal unless the attacker is also ethereal (during which time the ghost's AC is 8). However, it must became semi-ethereal to attack characters, at which time it can be counterattacked (its semi-ethereal AC is 0). Note that silver weapons inflict half damage and magical weapons inflict full damage.

Ghoul (MM): AC 6; MV 9; HD 2; hp 13; THACO 19; #AT 3; Dmg 1–3/1–3/1D6 (claw/claw/bite); SA touch paralyzes for 1d6+2 rounds (save to avoid); SD immune to *sleep* and *charm*; SW *protection from evil* keeps at bay; SZ M (5' tall); ML steady (12); Int low (7); AL CE; XP 175.

Haunf (MM): AC 0 (or victim's); MV 6 (or victim's); HD 5; hp 23 or victim's; THAC0 15; #AT 1; Dmg Dex drain (touch) or by victim's weapon; SA possession, strangulation; cannot be turned, SD struck only by silver or magical weapons (1-hp damage plus magical bonus only), normal fire inflicts 1-hp damage but magical fire inflicts full damage; SW cannot leave area where it died without first possessing a body, *hold person* forces a save vs. paralyzation or haunt is expelled, *dispel evil* destroys; SZ variable; ML n/a; Int non (0); AL any; XP 2,000.

The haunt chooses a single target and attacks mindlessly, draining 2 points of Dex per hit until the victim's score reaches 0, at which time it takes possession of the body, gains the victim's combat stats, and attempts to complete whatever mission kept it "alive."

SA: Strangulation—if the haunt and victim are of opposing alignments, the haunt begins to strangle the possessed body with his own hands, inflicting 1-hp damage on the first round and continuously doubling the damage in each successive round until death occurs or the victim's companions aid him.

Hell hound (MM): AC 4; MV 12; HD 7; hp 49; THAC0 13; #AT 1; Dmg 1d10 (bite) or 7 (breath); SA –5 to opponents' surprise rolls, 10' fiery breath (save for half damage); SD immune to fire, surprised only on 1 or 2, 50% chance to see hidden/invisible creatures; SZ M (6' long); ML elite (13); Int low (6); AL LE; XP 1,400.

If the hell hound's attack roll is a natural 20, it both bites and breathes fire.

Hook horror (MM): AC 3; MV 9; HD 5; hp 35; THAC0 15; #AT 3; Dmg 1d8/1d8/2d6 (claw/claw/bite); SD surprised only on 1; SZ L (9' tall); ML steady (12); Int low (5); AL N; XP 175.

SA: If both claws hit, the beak automatically bites on that and each successive round until at least one claw is dislodged (bend bars roll). The monster suffers no attack penalties for blindfighting due to acute hearing, unless opponent is silenced (magic or rogue skill). Note that it moves at normal rate on vertical surfaces.

Mimic (MM): AC 7; MV 3; HD 8; hp 41; THAC0 13; #AT 1; Dmg 3d4 (smash); SA struck victims adhered; SD immune to acid, molds, green slime, puddings; SZ L (7' long); ML champion (15); Int avg (10); AL N; XP 1,400.

SA: A successful bend bars roll or three rounds of treatment with alcohol allows a caught victim to break free.

Mist, crimson death (MM): AC 0; MV FI 12(B), 6 after feeding; HD 13; hp 89; THAC0 7; #AT 1; Dmg 3d10 (vaporous tentacles); SA able to pick up one adventurer (or equivalent weight) with a successful attack roll; SD +2 or better weapon to hit; SW increased vulnerability after feeding; MR 95%; SZ M (6' tall); ML champion (16); Int genius (18); AL NE; XP 9,000.

SA: If a victim lifted off the ground struggles, the mist must make a successful attack roll each round—failure indicates the victim is dropped.

SW: After feeding, its AC is 4 and only a +1 weapon is required to hit it.

Monster Combat Summaries: Mist-Wraith

Mist, vampiric (MM): AC 4; MV FI 12(B), 6 after feeding; HD 3; hp 24; THAC0 17; #AT 1; Dmg 1d8 (blood drain); SA envelopment, all opponents' ACs are 10 (but Dex and magical armor bonuses apply); SD damaged only by magical weapons, *lightning bolt, magic missile,* and spells that affect air; SW increased vulnerability after feeding; SZ M–L (5'–8' tall); ML elite (14); Int avg (8); AL NE; XP 270.

SA: Envelopment—on an attack roll successful by 4 or more, the victim is enveloped and automatically hit each round until the mist is killed; half of all the mist's sustained damage goes to the enveloped victim. Enveloped victim may not take actions that require concentration (spellcasting, etc.).

SW: After feeding, the mist's AC is 8 and it can be hit by normal weapons.

Ooze/slime/jelly, green slime (MM): AC 9; MV 0; HD 2; hp 15; THAC0 19; #AT 0; Dmg nil; SA attaches to skin and turns victim into green slime in 1d4 rounds (no resurrection possible); SD invulnerable to weapons and spells; SW *cure disease* kills; SZ S (4' long); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP 65.

Phantom (MM): AC n/a; MV 9; HD 0; THAC0 n/a; #AT 0; Dmg nil; SA *fear* effect; SW *remove curse* cast by 12th-level or higher priest dispels; MR 100% (except for *remove curse*); SZ varies; ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP nil.

At the DM's option, phantoms of the Phantasmal Forest may be so gruesome as to require system shock rolls (+10 bonus to roll) to avoid dying of fright. Horror checks may also be appropriate.

Plant, bloodrose bush (MC3): AC 10; MV 0; HD 10; hp 62; THAC0 11; #AT 1d10; Dmg 1d2+target's AC per hit (min. of 1) (thorns); SA 10'-radius *entanglement;* SD blunt and piercing weapons inflict 1-hp damage; SW salt water inflicts 1d10 damage per gallon; SZ S (4' tall); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL nil; XP 2,000.

Plant, fearweed (MC3): AC 10; MV 0; HD 1; hp 3; THAC0 n/a; #AT 0; Dmg nil; SA 20'-radius *fear* cloud; SZ S (2' tall); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP 120.

SA: When a warm-blooded creature approaches within 10', the fear weed releases an odorless, colorless *fear* cloud. Those within the cloud who fail to save vs. poison with a -2 penalty become paranoid, delusory, and violent, attacking their companions for 1d6+5 rounds. *Remove curse* or *neutralize poison* cancels the effect. If any companion is reduced to 0 hp or less during a fight, other affected PCs may attempt a second saving throw to stop fighting. However, a successful roll leaves *confusion* (as the spell) for 1d6 rounds.

Plant, intelligent, shambling mound (MM): AC 0; MV 6; HD 8; hp 54; THAC0 13; #AT 2; Dmg 2d8/2d8 (appendages); SA if both attacks hit, victim is engulfed and suffocates in 2d4 rounds unless the shambler is killed; SD immune to fire and blunt weapons, half damage from piercing and slashing weapons, half or no damage from cold (depending on save), lightning *adds* 1 HD per attack; SZ M (6' tall); ML fanatic (17); Int low (5); AL N; XP 6,000.

Scorpion, large (MM): AC 5; MV 9; HD 2+2; hp 12; THAC0 19; #AT 3; Dmg 1d4/1d4/1 (claw/claw/sting); SA poison sting inflicts 15-hp damage (save to avoid); SZ S (2' long); ML avg (8); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 175.

Shadow (MM): AC 7; MV 12; HD 3+3; hp 18; THAC0 17; #AT 1; Dmg 1d4+1 and 1 Str point (touch); SD +1 or better weapon to hit, 90% undetectable, immune to *sleep, charm, hold,* cold-based spells; SZ M (6' tall); ML fearless (20); Int low (7); AL CE; XP 420. Heroes reduced to 0 Str die and rise as shadows themselves.

Shadow asp (MC3): AC 2; MV 0; HD ½; hp 4; THACO 20; #AT 1; Dmg 1d2 (bite); SA –5 to opponents' surprise rolls, shadow toxin; SD half damage only from piercing weapons; SW *hold monster* slows, *light* or *continual light* destroys, held at bay by *protection from evil*; SZ T (1' long); ML fearless (20); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 65. SA: Shadow toxin—bite victims must successfully save vs. poison or turn into a shadow (q.v.) in five rounds. However, *remove curse* or *dispel magic* stops the transformation.

SW: Hold monster raises the asp's AC to 8.

Skeleton (armored) (MM): AC 3; MV 6 (plate armor); HD 1; hp 6; THAC0 19; #AT 1; Dmg 1d8 (long sword); SD immune to *sleep*, *charm*, *hold*, *fear*; SW holy water inflicts 2d4 damage; SZ M (6' tall); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP 65.

Snake, poisonous (MM): AC 6; MV 15; HD 2+1; hp 14; THAC0 19; #AT 1; Dmg 1 (bite); SA poison—onset time of 2d4 rounds, and failed save results in incapacitation for 1d4 days; SZ S (4' long); ML avg (8); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 175.

Spectre (MM): AC 2; MV 15, FI 30(B); HD 7+3; hp 43; THAC0 13; #AT 1; Dmg 1d8 (touch); SA energy drain (2 levels per touch); SD +1 or better weapon to hit, immune to *sleep, charm, hold,* coldbased magic; SW holy water inflicts 2d4 damage, *raise dead* destroys; SZ M (6' tall); ML champion (15); Int high (14); AL LE; XP 3,000.

Spider, large (MM): AC 8; MV 6, Wb 15; HD 1+1; hp 5; THAC0 19; #AT 1; Dmg 1 (bite); SA poison—onset time of 15 rounds, failed save inflicts 15-hp damage; SZ S (2' diameter); ML unsteady (7); Int animal (1); AL N; XP 175.

Large spiders are most dangerous for their webs: For every Str point below 19, it takes one round to break free of them.

Uirus, petrification (MC3): AC n/a; MV 0; HD n/a; THAC0 n/a; #AT 0; Dmg nil; SA infection upon physical contact; SW *cure disease* or *dispel magic* kills; SZ T (microscopic); ML n/a; Int non (0); AL N; XP 650.

SA: Spreading from the point of first contact, 10% of the victim turns to marble each day, lowering Dex 2 per day and improving AC 1 per day. Completely marbleized victims remain alive for 2d6 months. *Stone to flesh* removes all trace of marble, but not the virus, which spreads anew.

Will o'wisp (MM): AC -8; MV FI 18(A); HD 9; hp 61; THAC0 11; #AT 1; Dmg 2d8 (shock); SA invisibility for 2d4 rounds at a time; SD immune to all spells but *protection from evil, magic missile, maze;* MR 100% (except listed spells); SZ S (2' diameter); ML fanatic (17); Int exc (16); AL CE; XP 3,000.

Wolf (MM): AC 7; MV 18; HD 3; hp 18; THAC0 17; #AT 1; Dmg 1d4+1 (bite); SD +1 vs. *charm;* SZ S (4'long); ML avg (10); Int low (6); AL N; XP 120.

Wolf, winter (MM): AC 5; MV 18; HD 6; hp 47; THAC0 15; #AT 1; Dmg 2d4 (bite); SA 10' frost breath 1 per 10 rounds, 6d4 damage (save for half); SD immune to cold damage; SW fire inflicts +1 damage per die; SZ L (10' long); ML elite (13); Int avg (10); AL NE; XP 975.

Worg (MM): AC 6; MV 18; HD 3+3; hp 20; THACO 17; #AT 1; Dmg 2d4 (bite); SD +1 vs. *charm*; SZ M (7' long); ML steady (11); Int low (7); AL NE; XP 120.

Wraith: AC 4; MV 12, FI 24(B); HD 5+3; hp 28; THAC0 15; #AT 1; Dmg 1d6 (touch); SA energy drain (1 level per touch); SD silver or +1 or better weapon to hit, immune to poison, paralyzation, coldbased magic, *sleep, charm, hold, death;* SW holy water inflicts 2d4 damage, *raise dead* destroys (save applies); SZ M (6' tall); ML champion (15); Int very (12); AL LE; XP 2,000.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A LIEHT IN THE BELFRY

Introduction
Using the Audio CD 2
Monster Statistics
The Domain of Avonleigh ,
Morgoroth
The Land
Tergeron Manor
Closing the Borders5
The Folk
Encounters
Learning Avonleigh's History
I: Getting Started
The Mists
The Storm
The Underdark
Magical Transportation7
The Phantasmal Forest
Highway
Game Trails8
Forest
II: Exploring the Grounds
III: Exploring Tergeron Manor
Morgoroth's Influence
Shattered Glass 12
Entrances and Exits
and the second sec

Credits

Designer: William W. Connors CD Script Writer: Dori Hein Editor: David Wise Project Coordination: Harold Johnson Cover Art: Robh Ruppel Interior Art: Mark Nelson Graphics Coordination: Paul Jaquays Art Coordination: Peggy Cooper Cartography: David C. Sutherland III Typography: Angelika Lokotz

With sincerest thanks and deepest gratitude to the Design and Development staff at TSR, Inc. There are no better people in the world.

Map Key & Encounters
Ground Floor
First Floor
Second Floor
Third Floor
Fourth Floor
IV: The Grand Finale
The Necromancer Returns
The Necromancer Falls
The Necromancer's Fate
The Necromancer's Doom
The Sleeping Corpse
Area 33: The Belfry 28
The Crystal Coffin
The Pealing of the Bells
Back from the Dead
The Necromancer's Desperation
Leaving the Mists Behind
The Silver Portal
Returning Home
Tables and Other Important Information:
Avonleigh Temperature and

TSR, Inc. 201 Sheridan Springs Lake Geneva WI 53147 U.S.A



TSR Ltd. 120 Church End, Cherry Hinton Cambridge CB1 3LB United Kingdom

9494XXX1901

ADVANCED DUNGEONS & DRAGONS, AD&D, DUNGEON MASTER, MONSTROUS COMPENDIUM, RAVENLOFT, and FORGOTTEN REALMS are registered trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. MYSTARA, MONSTROUS MANUAL, and the TSR logo are trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. All TSR characters, character names, and the distinctive likenesses thereof are trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. ©1995 TSR, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Printed in the U.S.A.

Random House and its affiliate companies have worldwide distribution rights in the book trade for English-language products of TSR, Inc. Distributed to the book and hobby trade in the United Kingdom by TSR Ltd.

This material is protected under the copyright laws of the United States of America. Any reproduction or unauthorized use of the material or artwork contained herein is prohibited without the express written consent of TSR, Inc. he wicked flee when no man pursuelh; but the righteous are bold as a lion. —Proverbs 28:1

A Light in the Belfry is a RAVENLOFT® adventure of

for four to six player

terror and mystery designed

characters at the 6th to 8th

levels of experience. Larger

INTRODUCTIO

that can be used whenever the players encounter this type of weather, in the land of the Mists and elsewhere.

Monster Statistics

Abilities and statistics for the monsters that can appear in this adventure are summarized on the inside of the booklet cover for quick reference. (*Note that "SW" means "special weakness" in the combat summary.*) Although the included information is sufficient to run the monsters, DMs who wish to properly run them in all their terrible glory should refer to the original sourcebook for complete facts. A parenthetical reference to each creature's source is included with the summary, immediately following the monster's name, abbreviated thus:

(MM) - MONSTROUS MANUAL

- (MC1) RAVENLOFT MONSTROUS COMPENDIUM Appendix 1
- (MC3) RAVENLOFT MONSTROUS COMPENDIUM Appendix 3

The Domain of Avonleigh

The domain of Avonleigh is one of many islands of terror that appear from time to time in the Mists of the Demiplane of Dread. It was drawn from a distant world whose folk were not unlike those of many prime-material fantasy worlds like the FORGOTTEN REALMS[®] or MYSTARA[™] campaign settings.

The people of Avonleigh were noted for their long traditions of honor and pride. The piety and faith of the citizenry were said to never waver, and the knights who defended it were paladins, all. If ever the values of virtue and goodness had a home, it was in fair Avonleigh.

How tragic it is, that a domain so full of wickedness should have its roots there! Evil came to the land in the form of a necromancer, a specialist in death magic named Morgoroth. Though he came seeking an escape from his dark past, he brought doom with him.

or smaller parties can play it, too, but doing so requires the Dungeon Master (DM) to adjust the encounters to suit his particular group. The adventure can be played as part of an on-going RAVENLOFT campaign or simply as a short excursion into the Demiplane of Dread. If the former is the case, the DM should alter the beginning and ending of the scenario, providing a transition out of and back into the rest of the campaign.

The DUNGEON MASTER[®] Guide, Player's Handbook, MONSTROUS MANUAL[™], and the RAVENLOFT Campaign Setting boxed set are necessary to run this module. The RAVENLOFT MONSTROUS COMPENDIUM[®] appendices 1 and 3 are useful but not required.

Using the Audio CD

This adventure requires the use of an audio compact disk (CD) during play. Using the CD is easy: Whenever the DM is required to play a specific track, its number appears in a large box near the text describing that part of the adventure. Note that additional notes on using the CD occasionally appear in the adventure.

Not all of the tracks on the CD are called for during *A Light In The Belfry*. Additional sound effects have been added so that it can be used in other adventures as well. For the most part these are tracks that contain various sound effects. For example, track 60 is a thunderstorm



Morgoroth

Lord of Avonleigh 13th–level Human Necromancer, Chaotic Evil

Armor Class	10	Str	12	
Movement	9	Dex	15	
Level/Hit Dice	13	Con	16	
Hit Points	50	Int	19	
THAC0	16	Wis	16	
No. of Attacks	1	Cha	17	
Damage/Attack	1d4 or by weapon			
Special Attacks	Spell use			
Special Defenses	Magic jar, regeneration,			
	immune to necromancy			
Magic Resistance				

Morgoroth is nearly 7 feet tall and is painfully thin. His bones almost seem to protrude from his flesh, yet his features are strangely handsome. His eyes are steel gray and stand out sharply when contrasted with his dark hair and traditionally black clothing.

Background: Once the master of a great empire ruled through fear and evil magic, Morgoroth was driven from power by a team of adventurers led by the great knight Lambert. The details of Morgoroth's life after that are presented on tracks 1–13 of the compact disk that accompanies this adventure.

Current Sketch: At the start of this adventure, Morgoroth is a spirit imprisoned within the structure of Tergeron Manor. He has spent over a century in this state, using his mysterious powers to strike down the all adventurers who, ironically, might free him.

Combat: While trapped within the walls of Tergeron Manor, Morgoroth is unable to engage in direct combat with the adventurers, including spellcasting. Once he is released, however, he becomes a dangerous enemy, possessing the full complement of spells he memorized before he became trapped in the wall of the manor. (See his spell list on page 5.)

Once freed from the house (see "The Grand Finale," page 27), Morgoroth has the normal



spellcasting abilities of a 13th-level necromancer. He also gains the traditional +1 bonus on any saving throw vs. the spell school of necromancy. Conversely, anyone attempting a saving throw vs. Morgoroth's necromantic spells suffers a -1 penalty.

Morgoroth's 19 Intelligence renders him immune to 1st-level illusions. His 16 Wisdom grants him a +2 bonus to saving throws vs. mind-affecting magic.

In addition, Morgoroth's status as the lord of Avonleigh grants him additional powers:

Morgoroth can create some spell effects which would not normally be available to a necromancer—namely, illusions. These effects manifest at various times during the adventure, and the DM should not be concerned by rules restrictions concerning opposition schools.

✤ The casting time of any spell that Morgoroth wishes to use is *half* that listed in the *Player's Handbook* (minimum of 1). If the spell is from the school of necromancy, the casting time is always 1.

No spell from the school or sphere of necromancy functions within Avonleigh unless Morgoroth wishes it to. In order to prevent a spell from taking effect, however, he must know that it is being cast.

Arrow Morgoroth has the ability to make the doors and windows of Tergeron Manor open and close at will. He often uses this to injure an unwary adventurer or amplify a frightening situation. Should anyone attempt to force open a door that Morgoroth wants closed, an open doors check is required. Magic such as a *knock* spell can be used as well.

Thrice per day, Morgoroth can instantly snuff all nonmagical light sources within Tergeron Manor. Magical light sources must make a successful saving throw vs. spell or they flicker and vanish too. When Morgoroth invokes this power, no new lights of either magical or mundane nature can be created for 10 minutes (one turn).

Thrice per day, Morgoroth can cause a cold wind to blow past the adventurers. While most will only shiver at this frigid breeze, one of the characters can be singled out to hear a brief message of up to 13 words.

Once per day, the necromancer may send a gust of frosty air through the party, requiring each adventurer to make a saving throw vs. breath weapon. A successful save indicates a character has suffered 1d4 points of damage, while failure inflicts 2d4 points of damage and requires the character to make saving throws vs. cold for every liquid carried. This includes holy water, poisons, magical potions, and even lamp oil. Any frozen fluid can be thawed out in half an hour with a torch or similar source of heat but will have been changed by the process so that it is unsuited to its original purpose. For example, drinking water becomes brackish and bitter, magical potions lose their enchantments, and lamp oil is no longer combustible.

Once per day, Morgoroth can call 4d4 spirits from the Phantasmal Forest to haunt and torment the characters. Most (80%) of these are geists and are not very dangerous. These should be used to frighten the characters by lunging out of walls, screaming in agony, and otherwise harassing them. The rest of the spirits (20%) appear to be only geists but have the abilities of shadows. These should ambush the party as it recovers from a harrowing encounter or is otherwise off its guard.

One last power which Morgoroth wields as a darklord is the ability to manipulate reflections. For example, someone looking into a pool of water might see the flesh on his face run off of his skull like melting wax. While this cannot physically harm anyone, it can be most unnerving, perhaps prompting *horror checks*. (See the RAVENLOFT *Campaign Setting* box for details and rules concerning horror checks.)

Note that Morgoroth cannot affect the images reflected in the 13 shards of the magical mirror in the parlor of Tergeron Manor (see Area 16 on page 17 and the map), which the heroes will collect during the course of the adventure. (See "Learning Avonleigh's History," page 6, for more details concerning the mirror and the shards.)



Spells Memorized (6/6/6/5/5/3)

1st: Cantrip, grease, hold portal, magic mirror, spider climb, unseen servant. 2nd: Fog cloud, spectral hand, glitterdust, stinking cloud, web, wizard lock. 3rd: Blink, dispel magic, feign death, haste, tongues, vampiric touch.

4th: Contagion, enervation, Evard's black tentacles, ice storm, magic mirror.

5th: Animate dead, magic jar, passwall, summon shadow, wall of force.

6th: Death fog, death spell, invisible stalker.

The Land

The domain of Avonleigh takes its name from the great kingdom of which it was once a part. There are those who wrongly call this place Tergeron, which is actually the name of a manor house that stands at its heart. The vast majority of this island of terror is covered by the Phantasmal Forest, a thickly grown wood full of haunting spirits and the undying essences of the eternally cursed. Those who travel through the woods should beware the spectral undead that linger there, for those monsters have no love of the living and are not above adding to their own numbers by feasting upon the life forces of trespassers.

The domain of Avonleigh is forever shrouded in darkness. A pair of dim moons named Alyn and Zyla hang above it in a starless sky, and only storm clouds that occasionally fill the sky can block out the sight of these watchful orbs.

Efforts to drive out the night with torches, lanterns, or even bonfires are nigh futile, for the darkness is far more malignant than that of other lands. Within the Phantasmal Forest, no source of radiance produces a glow brighter than that of a campfire. Within Tergeron Manor, the shroud of night is even more impenetrable.

Temperatures in Avonleigh seldom rise above 50° Fahrenheit. Whether this is a product of the eternal night that blankets the realm or a side effect of Morgoroth's wickedness is impossible to say.

See the back cover of this booklet for a table that dictates the various light and temperature levels in Avonleigh. Mechanics for the effects of the various degrees of coldness upon adventurers are also included there.

Tergeron Manor

At the heart of this domain is proud Tergeron Manor. Bleak and foreboding, this brooding structure is the only building that stands in the dreadful domain of Avonleigh. At night, when Alyn and Zyla rise into the sky and the misty spirits of the dead creep out of their graves to roam the land and hunt the living, a single light shines out from the belfry of the manor. Like a beacon that calls a weary traveler to the safety of an inn or monastery, *this* macabre glow promises only suffering and death.

Closing the Borders

Those who enter the Mists against the lord's will discover that the way grows colder with every step. This steady drop in temperature eventually passes beyond the ability of even the most powerful magic to resist. Before an adventurer proceeds 100 yards into the Mists, he is forced to retreat or face the threat of frostbite. If he presses on to the 200-yard mark, hypothermia sets in and the character begins to freeze to death. No one, not even with the protection of powerful magic, can survive 300 yards into the Mists. See the back cover of for cold-damage rules.

The Folk

Apart from the spectral denizens of the Phantasmal Forest and the occasional monster trapped within the walls of Tergeron Manor, Avonleigh is uninhabited. From time to time, wanderers in the Mists make their way into this land, but they are quickly slain by the beasts and horrors of the woods or destroyed by Morgoroth if they reach the manor house itself.

Encounters

Within the Phantasmal Forest one is likely to meet with almost any manner of spectral undead. The vast majority of the spirits who dwell here are geists or phantoms, but more terrible creatures like shadows, spectres, and even wraiths are common as well. See the next chapter, "Getting Started," for percentage chances of random encounters with undead.

INTHOMM

Despite the army of spirits who lurk in the shadows of this accursed wood, the Phantasmal Forest is rich in animal life. The eternal night of this domain makes nocturnal animals like bats and wolves common, but many creatures that are normally active during the day have adapted to this land as well.

Bears and wolves are the largest natural predators of Avonleigh, but relative size has little to do with danger or ferocity. A large number of insects, ranging from gnats and mosquitos to flesh-eating scarab beetles and foot-long



centipedes, can be found here. This excessive insect population has led to a great blossoming of the bat and rat populations, both of which feed upon the bugs, but which can demonstrate aggression against adventurers.

Learning Avonleigh's History

o understand all that happens within the walls of Tergeron Manor, one must be familiar with the circumstances under which Morgoroth came to Avonleigh, and how he brought down the Mists upon that fair land, transporting it to the Demiplane of Dread. Tracks 1–13 of the CD tell the whole, sad tale of the necromancer and his doomed quest for atonement, and the DM is instructed to listen to them—in order—before gathering the players for a game session.

Over the course of the adventure the adventurers themselves can learn the story bit by bit as they recover 13 shards of a magical mirror which are scattered throughout the manor house. The adventure cannot be completed until all of them have been recovered and placed back into the long, free-standing frame in the parlor, so get ready for a scavenger hunt. This can take a while, especially if the DM is not inclined to help out unobservant heroes. Be prepared to insert random encounters with any form of incorporeal undead listed in the combat summaries table (on the back cover of this booklet), in case the adventurers have revisit various rooms. Let the frequency of such encounters rise with each passing hour, eventually driving the heroes from the house to rest in the safety (?) of the Phantasmal Forest.

As each fragment is recovered, the text indicates to the DM which track of the CD should be played, revealing a piece of the mystery to the adventuring party. Note that the heroes probably won't find the shards in an order that would result in hearing the CD tracks chronologically. Therefore, the DM should become fairly familiar with the story so that he can aid the players in the event that they become confused.

GETTING STARTED

very exit is an entry somewhere else. —Tom Stoppard, Rosencrantz & Gildenstern Are Dead

This section proposes several possible openings for *A Light in the Belfry*. With a little work, any one of them

can be tailored to meet the needs of the DM and the unique flavor of his campaign, whether it is set within the RAVENLOFT realm of terror or elsewhere.

The Mists

This is the traditional medium through which RAVENLOFT adventures begin. In essence, it involves the adventurers marching through or otherwise encountering a region of heavy fog. Before they know what is happening, they are transported into the Demiplane of Dread. The only problem with this opening is that experienced adventurers recognize it instantly. Nothing takes the edge off of an evening of horror like having a player announce, "On your toes everyone, we're going to Ravenloft!"

Of course, if the players aren't familiar with the RAVENLOFT campaign setting, this introduction works quite well. It might even serve to enhance their terror, especially if they've heard tales of a mysterious land of mists and nightmares during earlier adventures. Foreshadowing can do a lot to make a party's first foray into the Mists especially frightening.

The Storm

Since tremendous storms mark both the coming of Morgoroth to Avonleigh and the subsequent

transportation of his lands into Ravenloft, they make an excellent vehicle for transporting a group to the Demiplane of Dread. Indeed, they're dramatic by themselves.

A driving rain can be used like the Mists: The adventurers are traveling along when a sudden storm erupts. The downpour is so intense that they are forced to seek shelter. As lightning periodically flashes across the sky with a cacophony of thunderclaps, it's easy to believe that no one would notice that they are subtly being shunted into Ravenloft.

The Underdark

Adventurers returning from an underground mission are prime candidates for a jump into the land of the Mists. Stepping out of a dank hole in the ground to draw their first breaths of fresh air, they'll eventually notice that the place they exited the ground is not the same the one the entered. It's easy enough to assume that they simply made a wrong turn on their ascent—until they turn around and discover that the cave they just left has vanished!

Magical Transportation

Many adventuring parties make use of magical spells like *dimension door* to cross vast distances quickly. Once they place themselves at the mercy of such mystical conveyances, they can be redirected to Ravenloft. One minute they're setting forth from Waterdeep to visit a friend in the Dales, for example, and the next minute they're standing in the middle of the Phantasmal Forest.

This detour is especially startling when the magical or psionic ability employed is one that the adventurer smugly considers to be flawless. Remember: One of the key elements of the horror genre is uncertainty. When a highly reliable spell fails the party, they will wonder if it's really safe to depend upon any of the other things that they've come to take for granted. I: CETTINE STAFTED

The Phantasmal Forest

he party's first steps into Avonleigh brings it into the Phantasmal Forest. Movement is generally difficult, even on the King's Highway, which runs through the domain (see the map). There are three terrains that heroes encounter outside the wall that encircles Tergeron Manor: *highway, trail,* and *forest.* Each of them is described below.

There is a 50% chance per hour for an encounter while traveling through the forest. The exact number of creatures encountered should be determined by the DM, depending upon the strength and size of the party.

See the back cover of this adventure booklet for the monster encounter table that will be mentioned several times during the remainder of this chapter. As mentioned earlier, full combat statistics for all of the creatures of Avonleigh natural and supernatural—are included on the interior cover.

Highway

The King's Highway is a wide dirt road that runs from the northern border of the domain, past Tergeron Manor, to the southern border. Built under the beneficent rule of King Ferran Shadowborn I, this was once part of a highway that stretched for hundreds of miles and was a boon to commerce and industry alike.

Although it is worn and obviously untended, travel on this road is not overly difficult. A fair amount of scrub brush has grown in patches on the road, and frequent cracks make the footing uncertain. For game purposes, the highway has a movement penalty of 2.

Although the King's Highway is the easiest type of terrain to cross in Avonleigh, it also offers the greatest chance of encounters with the incorporeal spirits of the Phantasmal Forest. Therefore, the DM should roll on the *supernatural* column of the encounter table when the dice indicate such an occurrence in the highway.

Game Trails

These rugged paths have been made by the scattered animals that live in the woods. Game trails are far less negotiable for travelers than the remains of the King's Highway. In many places, fallen trees and thick undergrowth make them extremely difficult to pass. Still, one makes better time on these than in the tangled wilderness around them. In game terms, the game trails are considered "medium forest," dictating a movement penalty of 4.

Encounters on the game trails are not uncommon. As a rule, the creatures met during these encounters are split fairly evenly between the normal animals of the forest and the spectral remnants who give the place its name. Therefore, the DM should consult the *supernatural* column of the encounter table if the 1d10 roll result is an odd number, and the *natural* column if the result is even.

Forest

Only a fool travels the Phantasmal Forest without a sure weapon or spell at hand! This gnarled and gloomy wood covering the vast majority of Avonleigh is so thick that it is almost impassible. Thick undergrowth makes footing uncertain, and brambles claw at exposed flesh. Massive knots of foliage and half-fallen trees overgrown with brush delay progress and hide many a lurking menace. The unusually thick nature of the forest's vegetation makes this region count as "medium jungle" for travel purposes. As such, it imposes a movement penalty of 6.

Encounters in the forest tend to be of a mundane nature rather than a spectral one. This does not, however, make them any less dangerous. Years of exposure to Morgoroth's evil magic has twisted the animals of the wilderness to make them every bit as ferocious as his ghostly minions. Therefore, the DM should roll on the *natural* column of the encounter table when such a challenge rises to meet the heroes.

II: EXPLORING THE CROUNDS

ew are wholly dead: Blow on a dead man's embers and a live flame will start.

—Robert Graves. To Bring the Dead to Life

Once the heroes make their ways through the Phantasmal Forest, they

have the opportunity to look around the grounds of Tergeron Manor before they enter the house itself. The map included in the adventure box indicates the general areas that they can explore.

In addition to the DM notes concerning the encounter that occurs in each area on the map, various parts of the following text include a box with a number in it, indicating the track on the audio CD that should be played when the characters move into that area. Otherwise, the DM can set track 80 (night sounds) to repeat while the characters explore the grounds.

L. The Gate

Reading the Inscriptions: Anyone

attempting to read the letters on the gate must be able to read languages through magical or roque skills. If this is the case, a normal roll for success can be made. Failure indicates that, although the letters can be made out, the message is undecipherable. If the roll is successful, however, the word "Tergeron" becomes clear.

Opening the Gates: Attempting to open the gates is a difficult task at best. Years of decay have caused the lock's workings to seize up, making a normal attempt to pick it useless. A magical spell such as knock works normally and allows easy entrance to the grounds. The easiest

way to get past the gate, however, is to invoke the name of the wizard who built this place. Anyone who cries out the name of Morgoroth causes the iron gates to swing open.

2. The Walls

Climbing the Walls: Although the wall

that rings Tergeron Manor might pose a major problem for an attacking force of any size, it is hardly much of an obstacle to individuals. Anyone with climbing ability, either magical or mundane in nature, is able to quickly scale the walls. Indeed, even those without such abilities need only make a successful ability check on either Strength or Dexterity (player's choice) to get over the wall.

Using Magic or Psionics: Spells like spider climb or levitation work normally here, allowing a character to easily get past the walls. However, those that might enable a character to pass through the wall, like wraithform or passwall, result in the would-be trespasser suffering 3d10 points of damage the instant he touches the surface of the barrier. Morgoroth built the wall with a deadly magical charge running through it. A dispel magic cast upon the wall smothers the charge for one round per level of the caster. during which time an adventurer may pass through it by through either magical or psionic means.

3. The Stables

Explain to the players that each of the horses wears a saddle and bridle. These skeletal horses are not undead and pose no threat to the party. This is not to say, however, that they might not be unnerving. Players familiar with the RAVENLOFT campaign setting might well assume that they are Strahd's skeletal steeds or some related horror.

These horses belonged to a team of heroes that came to Avonleigh many years ago. They were slain by a unique magical spell that stripped the flesh from their bones instantly.



15





II: EXPLORING THE CROUNDS

Touching the horse skeletons. Anyone who touches the horses causes them to collapse with a clatter of snapping bones. With one exception (see below), the leather of the saddles and bridles crumbles into dust.

Searching the rubble: If all six skeletons are destroyed, a rare treasure is revealed: A saddle strapped to the back of the last horse (no matter the order in which they are destroyed) is magical and none the worse for the years that have passed since it was brought into Avonleigh. Although it is quite heavy (35 pounds), it bestows upon any horse the same abilities as *horseshoes of the zephyr*.

4. The Reflecting Pool



ÎĤ

Touching the Water: In fact, there *is* something alive in the reflecting pool:

The thick slime that spreads across the surface of the water is actually a colony of 15 aquatic green slimes. This is a variant of the green slime described in the MONSTROUS MANUAL (see ooze/slime/jelly), one which dies in 1d4 rounds if removed from water.

5. The Garden

Before he was imprisoned within the walls of Tergeron Manor, Morgoroth

grew spell components in this garden. Following the assimilation of Avonleigh by the Mists of Ravenloft, these plants were warped and mutated.

There are two dangerous types of plants in the garden. One is known as fearweed and the other is called bloodrose. There are five specimens of each variety in the garden.

Identifying the Plants without Magic: If a druid, ranger, or similar character attempts to identify these plants without the use of magic, he automatically fails because the specimens here are unique adaptations that have never been seen elsewhere. However, the close examination required to come to the conclusion that these plants are unique has a 50% chance

to trigger an attack by the garden. Identifying the Plants with Magic:

Magic might also be used to identify the plants. If this is done, the spell functions normally and has no chance of triggering an attack by the garden.

Disturbing the Garden: Anyone entering the garden, attempting to harvest some of the plants, or otherwise making physical contact with the plants triggers an attack. When this happens, both the fearweeds and bloodroses lash out instantly.

6. The Courtyard



Despite the overwhelming sense of isolation and despair that fills this area, the characters are in no danger here. Three entrances to the manor border this area, but all of them except the double-doors leading to Area 17 have been magically sealed with a *hold portal* spell. This enchantment, like all others cast by Morgoroth, is assumed to have been invoked by a 13th-level mage.

7. The Back Doors



Two entrances to the manor can be reached from this area. Like those that

surround the courtyard, these doors have been sealed with *hold portal* spells. This magic has to be overcome if the heroes wish to use them to enter Tergeron Manor.

8. The Topiary



While the plants in the topiary might appear menacing, they are actually

quite harmless. However, they are not the only inhabitants of this area. . . .

Long ago, before Avonleigh became an island of terror, this was the place where Lambert battled Morgoroth (dramatized on track 7 of the CD). If the adventurers spend any time in the topiary, they'll encounter a chilling reminder of that grim and tragic day.





At the start of each round after the first that the adventurers are in the topiary, the DM should roll 1d6. If the number rolled is a 1, the party encounters the phantasmal remains of Lambert. When that happens, the DM should randomly select one of the party members and play track 22 for him.

Lambert is nothing more than a phantom. As such, nothing that the adventurers do to him has any effect,



excepting a *remove curse* spell cast by a priest of at least 12th level, which dispels the phantom and sends it to its final rest. Lambert's spirit, like all those trapped in Avonleigh, can also be laid to rest upon Morgoroth's death.

9. The Graveyard

These are the graves of those whom the Mists have seen fit to bring into

Avonleigh. Like the heroes of this adventure, they all eventually made their way to Tergeron Manor, either to confront the lord of the domain and destroy him or to search for some escape from Avonleigh. One and all, they found only death at the hands of Morgoroth. At the start of this adventure, there are 130 graves (10 rows of 13) in this cemetery.

If Any of the Heroes Dies: If any living person, including one of the adventurers, dies while within the walls of Tergeron Manor or on its grounds, a new grave appears in the cemetery: Over the course of the turn after the character's death, the body and all its possessions fade away. If life is not successfully restored to the fallen hero within that time, the body becomes ethereal and then vanishes utterly; simultaneously, a new headstone and grave appears within the cemetery. Six feet beneath this marker rests a coffin containing the character and his possessions. Nothing short of a *wish* spell can preserve the newly deceased person's belongings if he himself is not rescued.

Disturbing a Grave: Any attempt to exhume one of the graves (or engaging in any other disruptive behavior) alerts the wardens of this place. As soon as the soil is broken or the relative peace is disturbed, a mournful wailing fills the air (track 70). If the trespassers do not cease their digging, the moaning grows louder and more terrifying. On the next round, a trio of banshees rises from the earth and attacks. Three more arise on the following round, then three more, and so on each round (to a maximum of 15). Only when the grave robbers cease their digging and flee the cemetery does the assault cease. The banshees do not pursue fleeing adventurers.

Defiling a Grave or Headstone: Of course, any attempt by the adventurers to damage one of the tombstones or otherwise defile the graves also summons the guardian banshees to the attack. This includes attempts to bless the place or any operation involving the dead by priests of any non-evil alignment.





III: EXPLORING TERBERON MANOR

etween the idea And the realily Between the motion And the act Falls the shadow. —T.S. Elliot, The Hollow Men

No doubt battered and weary, the characters will at last reach Tergeron Manor itself, the decrepid house that stands at the very heart of the domain of Avonleigh. Sadly, victory is still far from

their grasps. Only if they have the strength and courage to explore these haunted halls do they stand a chance escaping the dark and frigid island of terror. What travails lie ahead of them are perhaps more terrible than any they have faced before in their many adventures!

As the heroes explore Tergeron Manor, the Dungeon Master needs to keep a few important factors in mind, described below. Not all of the information that follows necessarily comes into play during the course of any single adventure, but the DM should readily know where to look for it if necessary.

Morgoroth's Influence

Because Morgoroth's spirit has fused with the house, he knows everything that goes on within it. Beyond that, he has the ability to manifest several unusual powers within the walls of Tergeron Manor. As an insubstantial being occupying the structure itself, he is unable to strike directly at the heroes, yet he can torment them through various circuitous means.

Morgoroth's powers and abilities are fully described in the Introduction. In order to make the job of the DM easier during game play, it is advisable to photocopy that page and keep it at hand as a reference during play.

Shattered Glass

hen Morgoroth attempted to flee the land of the Mists, he cast a magical spell upon a mirror in his parlor (Area 16 on the map). It was his intention to turn that object into a powerful portal that would allow him to escape the Demiplane of Dread.

Of course, leaving Ravenloft is not so easy! The mirror exploded, trapping Morgoroth's spirit within the very fabric of the house and scattering its fragments throughout Tergeron Manor. By finding these shards and placing them back in the mirror's frame, the heroes can learn of the necromancer's history.

Once the last piece is put in place, Morgoroth is freed from the house. (See "The Grand Finale," page 27.) Depending upon the way in which the heroes react to this, they may become either the necromancer's enemies or his allies. In any case, reassembling the mirror is a vital part of the adventure.

Entrances and Exits

here are several ways that a group of adventurers might seek entrance to Tergeron Manor. Each has its own special advantages and disadvantages. No matter what route the adventurers choose, the DM should keep in mind the fact that Morgoroth can slam windows on fingers and such at will (for 1d6 damage, successful Dex check to avoid).

Doors: The exterior doors of Tergeron Manor are all assumed to be under the effects of a *hold portal* spell when the adventurers arrive. They can be broken down, however, having an Armor Class of 10 and 20 hit points.

The exception to this is the pair of doors that open into Area 17 from the courtyard. These are not locked and can be opened easily.

Windows: Like the doors of Tergeron Manor, these have all been enchanted with a *hold portal* spell. They are easier to break through than the doors, however, having an AC of 10 and only 10 hit points.



Any character climbing through a broken window without taking care to (specifically stating that he will) clear out all the glass fragments has a 75% chance to cut himself for 1–3 points of damage unless he is armored from head to toe.

Other Attempts: All magical or psionic attempts to pass through the walls of Tergeron Manor automatically fail. This is a direct result of Morgoroth's presence within the structure of the house. No one can *teleport* from one room to another inside or outside, use a *passwall* to get from one area to another, or otherwise avoid using the doors or windows to get into and around the manor.

Truly unusual characters might attempt to bash a hole in the wall of the house to get in. If they do this, Morgoroth creates an illusion of blood flowing from the walls as soon as they start breaking through. This doesn't affect their efforts to get in, but might require a horror check if the players don't react appropriately.

Structurally, the house is made of 1-foot-thick *hard stone.* Attempts to break into it should be resolved with the rules for "siege warfare" on table 52 in the DUNGEON MASTER *Guide.* Note that weapons used for this purpose should be considered equal to a "giant fist" on the table, and that nonmagical weapons should save vs. crushing blow on a natural roll of 1. (Failure indicates the weapon shatters or otherwise becomes useless.)

Map Key & Encounters

Il floor plans are included on the map that comes with this boxed adventure. That portion of the poster which details the interior of Tergeron Manor allows the DM to easily referee attempts by the party to explore it. Note that the European method of identifying levels of the house is employed in *A Light in the Belfry:* ground floor, *then* first floor, second floor, and so on.

Before starting this portion of the adventure, the DM needs to keep a few things in mind: **Doors:** Track 79 on the CD contains the sound of a creaking door, which the DM can employ for effect whenever one of the heroes opens a door. From time to time a group of adventurers may need to break down one of the doors. These are not as sturdy as the exterior portals, so they can be broken down with a successful open doors roll.

Ceiling Height: Unless otherwise stated, every area on this map has a ceiling height of 15 feet. The three exceptions to this are the grand entrance (Area 12), the library (Area 29), and the belfry (Area 33). These rooms are twice the height of other rooms, having 30-foot-high ceilings.

Ground Floor

A chill of death hangs about Tergeron Manor like a frigid shroud. On this floor, the temperature varies between about 35° and 45° Fahrenheit. While this is uncomfortable, it isn't assumed to inflict any actual harm upon the adventurers or have any negative effects on their abilities.

10. Greenhouse

This greenhouse was used by

Morgoroth to grow some of the unusual plants that he needed for his spellcasting. Those which found the climate of Avonleigh hospitable were grown outside (in Area 5). The ones that needed special care, however, were raised here. In addition to these magical plants, the necromancer devoted some space to herbs and spices for his table. Since Avonleigh was swallowed by the Mists, however, the weather has become far too cold for flora of this type to thrive.

That does not make this place safe, however, for Morgoroth took steps to protect this place against trespassers long ago. After all, the things that he grew here were quite valuable, and he didn't want thieves helping themselves in the dead of night.



III: EXPLORING TERGERON MANOR

Disturbing the Garden: As soon as the heroes enter the greenhouse, a special, protective trap is set into motion. If the heroes do nothing to disturb the plants (or what's left of them), they are in no danger. Even a casual examination of the garden is fine. Pulling up a plant or other such action, however, triggers the deadly device.

As soon as this happens, a small panel slides open on the floor near the center of the room. Because it is so old, the mechanism makes a distinct but unidentifiable grinding sound. It takes one round for the door to open.

On the next round, a spring-loaded device hurls a glass orb into the air. This sphere is very fragile and shatters as it strikes the roof, whereupon an emerald gas begins to fill the room. In one round, the middle two quarters of the room are saturated with the vapor. On the next round, the entire place is filled.

The green gas is actually a highly effective magical fertilizer that Morgoroth designed with



the aid of a traveling druid who passed through Avonleigh many years ago. While it is highly effective in promoting plant growth, it is very dangerous to animal life: Anyone breathing it must make a saving throw vs. poison. A successful save indicates that the character did not breathe in the vapor, while a failed save results in the inhalation of this bitter, chalky mist. Once in the lungs, the vapor begins to change a character's body.

Within an hour there is a distinct greenish tint to the victim's skin. In two hours the skin is distinctly green and has the texture of a plant. With the passing of a third hour, the character's hair, fingers, and toes start to look like roots and tendrils. This process continues for the next day, at the end of which the character is completely changed into vegetable matter. In essence, he becomes a shambling mound.

A character who becomes a shambling mound finds his Intelligence, Wisdom, and Dexterity lowered to 7 (if they were higher than that) and his Charisma reduced to 3. The special abilities of those plant creatures, like resistance to cold or fire and regeneration when hit by a lightning attack, are acquired as well. As a rule, however, these are hardly consolation for the metamorphosis that has taken place.

11. Storage

Opening the Crates and Barrels: The

crates and barrels are filled with various things used by Morgoroth in the tending of his greenhouse and outdoor gardens. These range from wood chips to dried leaves to bitter smelling powders of various colors, the likes of which the adventurers have never seen.

Opening the Coffins: The coffin-shaped boxes are about half filled with soil. Of course, any group of adventurers worth their salt is going to assume that these are the resting places of vampires. This isn't true; they're only various types of soil that Morgoroth imported to help in his gardening. Still, there's no reason a why DM has to let his players know this. Indeed, with a





If the heroes open any of the coffin-shaped boxes, they have a chance to find one of the shards resting atop the soil therein. With each box opened, the DM should roll 1d6. If the result is a 1, then the party finds **Shard 9**. If no fragment is found by the time the party opens the last coffin, they find it resting upon the soil in that one. When the party discovers the shard, the DM may wish to play track 89 (magical radiance), hinting that they have found something important.

Digging in the Coffins: Should one of the heroes dig around in the soil beneath the shard, he is in for a nasty surprise: Morgoroth has infected the dirt with an insidious petrification virus. Only a *detect magic* spell reveals its presence, and only a successful healing proficiency roll identifies it as a kind of virus.

When an adventurer places his hand in the soil, a saving throw vs. spell with a –2 penalty is rolled. If the roll fails, the hero becomes infected. If the roll succeeds, he doesn't contract the virus, but a second saving throw, this time vs. death magic, is required. If it fails, he becomes a carrier of the virus, subjecting anyone who touches him to the same set of saving throws and possible results.

12. Grand Entrance Hall



Searching the Debris: Anyone who searches the debris has a chance to find

Shard 6. (Again, the DM may want to play track 89 [magical radiance] when the shard is discovered.) In order to do so, the character must make a successful Intelligence or Wisdom Check (whichever is higher). Unless leather gloves are worn or other precautions are taken, the character cuts himself on the multitude of crystal fragments, suffering 1 point of damage and a -2 or -10% penalty on tasks requiring the use of his hands for the rest of the adventure or until magical healing is applied.

13. West Closet

III: EXPLORING TERGERON MANOR



In truth, there is nothing dangerous

here. The heat is no more than a special effect designed to frighten intruders. The heroes cannot discover the source of this unusual phenomenon by any means. If the door is closed and then opened again, there is no new release of heat.

14. East Closet

Like the other closet, the slamming door is a special effect set up by

Morgoroth to sow a little fear among those who would invade his home. If the party leaves it alone, nothing further happens here. If their curiosity is aroused, however, they find this place a little more dangerous than its counterpart.

Forcing open the Door: If someone attempts to open the closet again, the same thing happens. However, it is possible for a character with a 17 or higher Strength to open the door once he is aware that it will try to close on him. One or more characters with a lesser Strength score might be able to open the door with special effort; such attempts must be adjudicated by the DM.

As soon as the door is prevented from closing, the same force that tried to close it reverses. As track 29 dramatizes it, the door explodes



outward, ripping off of its hinges and slamming with tremendous force into whoever has opened it (as well as those standing behind him). At the same time, the almost deafening laughter returns and fills the air. The DM is encouraged to play track 74 (insane laughter) and set his CD player to repeat this admittedly nerve-wracking cacophony for the length of this encounter.

The person (or persons) hit by the door instantly suffers 2d10 points of damage. In addition, a saving throw vs. paralysis must be attempted. Failure indicates that the character slams into the far wall and suffers an addition 1d10 points of damage.



III: EXPLORING PERGERON MANOR

If the total amount of damage suffered by an individual is over 15 points, he is stunned by the impact; on the next combat round he is unable to act. Instead, he must make an ability check against his Constitution score. If the roll is successful, the character is able to act normally on the next round. If the check fails, a new one must be attempted each round until it is successful.

As mentioned above, the laughter that was trapped in the closet has now been released into the hall. Swirling lights and wisps of sickly white vapor rush through the air, twining about one hero, then racing off to torment another. These things are harmless enough, but they continue to harass the adventurers until someone in the party uses a magical item or spell in any way. While the spirits are dancing about, anyone making an attack or damage roll, an ability or proficiency check, or a saving throw suffers a –8 penalty. Percentage based rolls, like thieving abilities, suffer a –40% penalty.

As soon as one of the characters casts a spell or employs a magical item (no matter what its effect), all of the spirits sweep toward him. In less than a second, they plunge into his body and are gone. As the first spirit hits him, the character is buckled with agony, eliciting horrible screams. Then, at the instant the last spirit vanishes into his flesh, the scream is cut off and the character collapses from this spectral violation of his body. At this same second, the laughter ceases utterly, leaving the entire place deathly silent.

For exactly 13 rounds, nothing will revive the character. Not even a *wish* spell will serve. This is Morgoroth's magic at work, and within the confines of the manor nothing can counter it. Horror checks may be in order for the affected hero's companions. Finally, exactly 13 rounds later, the character's eyes pop open and he finishes his scream. (Now, *fear checks* may be necessary.) As soon as that is done, he's fine again—sort of. If the DM chooses, a *madness check* for the victim may be mandated. (See the *Campaign Setting* boxed set for rules on fear

and madness checks.)

From now on, the spell which the character attempted in the presence of the spirits fails. Instead, the phantasmal horde bursts from his body and fills the air again, laughing and imposing the same penalties described above. Only by attempting to cast the same spell or use the same item again as the spirits fly about can they be halted. It is important to note that the spell (or a charge from the relevant magical item) tied to the spirits is not spent when the character first attempts to cast it and they appear. Only the second attempt to invoke the magic depletes the energy stored in the character's mind or the magical item. Once this is done, these shades are drawn back into the character's body. Again the poor fellow cries out in agony and collapses, and for another 13 rounds he is impossible to revive.

In order to be rid of these spirits, the character (and the magical item involved, if any) must be hit with a *banishment* spell. However, this spell does not work within the domain of Avonleigh, so the character cursed with these dreadful things remains handicapped—unable to invoke that particular spell or magical item—for at least the rest of this adventure. (Of course, only a *really wicked* DM would be fiendish enough to slip in one or two extra encounters that call for the use of the affected spell or item...)

15. Gallery

Examining the Statues: While they might all seem to be fashioned from



one model, a close examination of these figures reveals they are not. Each has unique features that sets it apart from the others. If fact, each of these is a representation of one of the 12 Knights of the Circle.

Morgoroth created these with a variation of the *stone shape* spell that affects steel. While adventurers might imagine some sinister motivation behind the molding of these magnificent figures, none such exists. In fact, the necromancer created these while in service





to the Circle, as an artistic distraction.

Anyone who examines the statues carefully discovers an imperfection in one of them: Buried within the throat of one of the statues is **Shard 8**. Following the explosion of Morgoroth's magical mirror, each of the fragments was briefly ethereal, and this particular one materialized while passing through the steel knight. Once again, the DM might play track 89 (magical radiance) as the shard is discovered.

Removing the Shard: Removing the shard is difficult. A close look reveals that it is not plunged into the metal of the statue but is actually fused in place. Thus, there is no way to pry the fragment loose. Instead, a hero must render himself incorporeal through the use of a *wraithform* or similar spell, at which time he finds that he can simply reach up and pull the shard free. This is due to residual magic from the mirror's detonation.

A second method of freeing the shard is to cast *crystalbrittle* on the statue, then deliver a sharp blow to it, which destroys the knight but not the fragment. If one of the adventurers is prepared, he can catch the piece of mirror as it falls to the ground by rolling a successful ability check on Dexterity with a +4 bonus. If no one is set to catch the shard, a normal Dexterity check is allowed for anyone standing within 5 feet of the statue.

If the shard is not caught, it breaks when it hits the ground, but all is not necessarily lost; a *mending* or similar spell restores it. Once the shard is reassembled, the magic of the shard remains undiminished by its rough treatment.

Because of the great diversity of spells available to AD&D[®] Game characters, it is impossible to cover every possible way by which one might separate these two objects. The above two methods are suggestions which give the DM a feel for the sort of tactics that might work. The DM should always listen to the plans of the adventurers and then decide the chances that they will succeed.

If the shard is removed without destroying the statue, blood begins to run from the statue's

throat. This is actually an illusion crafted by Morgoroth to frighten the characters. Rather than pooling on the ground, the blood runs into streams that spell out:

The night has fallen. Your fate is sealed. Death is at hand.

As soon as the words are read, the blood bubbles away into thick, brown smoke that smells like rotting meat. In only a few seconds, they are gone. An examination of the statue reveals no trace of the blood's source.

16. Parlor

This is the room where Morgoroth attempted to use a mirror to create a

magical portal that he hoped to use in his illfated escape from Ravenloft. This being the case, the fragment that lies in the dust is one of the 13 shards described at the start of this chapter—Shard 1, to be precise. (The DM can indicate as much by playing track 89 [magical radiance] on the CD.)

Using Divination Magic: If the characters employ a *detect magic* or similar spell here, they find that both the shard and the mirror frame are magical. Spells intended to reveal information about the mirror's alignment fail, for it has none.

Returning the Shard to its Place: A casual examination of the two objects reveals that the fragment fits exactly into one of the areas defined by the scorched lines on the backing. If the shard is placed against the frame, into the space that matches its outline, a magical glow fills the room and that part of Morgoroth's tale is revealed to the adventurers.

Fitting Additional Shards in Place: As the characters acquire the various shards of the mirror, they can return here and place them in the frame. As soon as each one is in position, the effect of doing so, described above, is repeated and the adventurers learn a little bit more about Morgoroth's history.









Fitting the Last Shard in Place: When the last of the 13 shards is fitted into place, the heroes hear the final portion of Morgoroth's story. In addition, they free his spirit from its imprisonment within the walls of Tergeron Manor. When that happens, the adventure continues with "The Grand Finale" (page 27).

17. Dining Room

Morgoroth seldom had guests at Tergeron Manor, but when visitors did avail themselves of his hospitality, this was where they were served meals. The table was always kept set and a minor *cantrip* woven periodically in this room by the wizard, kept all things spotless and free of dust. When it was time for meals, a staff of *unseen servants* (created by the 1st–level wizard spell) were summoned to prepare the food, serve the meal, and otherwise tend to the needs of the guests.

Casting a *Detect Magic* **Spell:** All of the candelabrums on the table are filled with magical candles; a *detect magic* or similar spell reveals this. The candles in the chandeliers are not magical.

Lighting the White Candles: When all of the white candles on a candelabrum are lit by a single person, an *unseen servant* is called into creation. This spell effect serves the person that summoned it, but unless that individual thinks to give it some order, the effect merely follows him around. The *servant* remains active until all of the candles on its candelabrum are snuffed or burned down, the latter of which takes about 12 hours.

Lighting the Black Candles: The black candles in the candelabrums are enchanted with a spell that Morgoroth created to ensure that no guest would ever have cause to complain about his hospitality. Each of these candles requires anyone within 20 feet to successfully save vs. spell or fall under its influence: For as long as the candle burns and that person remains within 20 feet of it, he finds any meal put before him to be a delicious treat. Thus, if the black candles



33

34

were lit, Morgoroth could serve maggots and sawdust to his guests and stand a good chance of having them love it. These candles also burn for a maximum of 12 hours, but they may be snuffed and relit many times.

18. Kitchen

Morgoroth maintained a well-stocked kitchen and larder. While he didn't have

visitors very often, those who did come were always impressed. This was partially because of the magical black candles that he placed on the table (in Area 17), but it was also because of the fine food that Morgoroth served.

As in the dining room, Morgoroth employed unseen servants to prepare the food for his guests. A man who was very fond of good food, he created a special variant of the unseen servant spell that summoned up creatures who were excellent chefs. If one of the servants from the dining room is brought in here and commanded to prepare a meal, it produces a dish of passable quality.

While the characters may find any manner of cooking utensil they might desire here, they find nothing of exceptional value.

19. Pantry

This area is well stocked with a fine assortment of foods. With a little effort,

a tasty meal can be put together from the ingredients stored here. Morgoroth has readied a spell over the foods here that will certainly spoil any feast the adventurers might cook up (see below).

Eating the Food: If anyone eats anything from this pantry, they find it tasty and apparently wholesome. After two or three bites, however, the food suddenly putrefies. Maggots wiggle out of meat, beetles begin to crawl out of bread, and worms slither around in fruit preserves. Anyone who has eaten of these foods must make a successful saving throw vs. poison or begin to disgorge everything he ate. In addition, a second successful saving throw must be made or the character contracts a debilitating disease (as per the *cause disease* spell). Persons who successfully made their first saving throw need not make the second one.

First Floor

The stairs at each end of the hallway (Area 20) lead down to the ground floor and the grand entrance (Area 12). Hence, the ceiling rises to a height of 30 feet over the stairs.

On this floor the temperature varies between about 25° and 35° Fahrenheit. Not only is this uncomfortable, it imposes a –1 penalty upon all heroes' attack rolls and saving throws. This penalty can be negated by magical spells or special equipment (like winter clothing) designed to negate the effects of cold.

Breaking Through the Ceiling: If anyone attempts to break through any of the ceilings on this level, he discovers that it is enchanted and seems to be harder than stone. Any weapon or tool used to chop or bash at the ceiling shatters on a natural attack roll of 20. If a *dispel magic* is cast upon the ceiling, however, its solidity is reduced to that of normal wood. It is then considered to have an AC of 10 and must sustain 40 points of damage in order to create a hole large enough for a man to climb through.

20. Hallway

Breaking a Sphere: These glass



spheres, bound together with delicate metal chains and hanging from the ceiling like an electrical light fixture, have been exposed to a fierce storm and thence absorbed a stroke of lightning. If anyone breaks one of them, he releases a *lightning bolt* similar to that created by a 13th–level wizard. Thus, it travels a distance of 170 feet and inflicts 10d6 points of damage upon anything in its path. The direction of the bolt is along the length of the hallway, starting in the direction of the hero who broke it. As the hallway is only 70 feet long, the bolt







streaks to the end of the hall (past the globebreaker), rebounds and strikes the wall at the opposite end, then rebounds again and strikes the first wall one more time!

If and when one of the spheres is broken, the lightning that it releases does not harm the others, as all three orbs are immune to *lightning bolts* of either natural or magical nature. A *dispel magic* cast on one of the spheres saps it of its power and neutralizes it.

Disturbing the Armor: The suits of armor are not magical, nor are the long swords they hold. However, a skeleton is contained within each one. If anyone lifts one of the visors, attempts to remove a sword, or otherwise disturbs these suits, all 12 monsters attack. (They are AC 3 and fully vulnerable to edged and piercing weapons due to the armor.) Once the skeletons have been defeated, their armor and swords may be claimed by the heroes.

21. Linen Storage



A trap door set in the wooden floor of this room opens onto the rickety stairs that lead down to the storage room (Area 11).

This room also holds a large store—of linen. It seems that Morgoroth expected to do a great deal of entertaining before his fortunes turned against him. There is nothing valuable or dangerous in this room.

22. Bedroom



The brown velvet chair in this room is actually a mimic. When Morgoroth was

alive, it was ordered not to attack his guests. (Of course, it could do whatever it wanted to his enemies or other intruders.) In return for this service, the wizard saw to it that the mimic was well fed and cared for. This arrangement suited them both well.

Touching the Chair: When Morgoroth's physical form was destroyed, many of the living things in Tergeron Manor were rendered dormant. The mimic here was one of them. As soon as someone enters the room, however, his body heat revives the creature.

The mimic only attacks if someone sits on or touches it. Thus, the adventurers could enter the room, pick up the shard, and leave without ever being attacked by the creature.

Recovering the Shard: The shard on the bed (Shard 12) is not trapped or dangerous in any way. (Don't forget to play track 89 [magical radiance] if it's been played for other shards.) When one of the heroes picks it up, however, the DM should roll 1d20 and then perhaps jot down the character's name, along with the words "lycanthrope curse," on a piece of paper. After that's done, he can set the paper aside and continue with the adventure. Rolling the die makes the player a little nervous, and he who has the bad taste to peak at the DM's "secret" notes will stew in his own juices. . . .

23. Bedroom

Here lies the body of Ferran Shadowborn, leader of the Circle and paladin-



king of Avonleigh. Out of respect for his one-time friend, the necromancer laid Ferran's body here after killing him. The knight's purity and nobility made it impossible for Morgoroth to corrupt his spirit or body.

Examining the Body: Anyone who disturbs the body accomplishes two things: First, he upsets the resting spirit of Ferran Shadowborn. Second, he



angers the unliving spirit of Morgoroth, who still mourns over the death of this great man. As individual acts these are foolhardy, but combined they are suicidal.

At the first indication that one of the heroes is planning to touch the body in any way, Morgoroth fills the room with a deafening scream that requires all heroes to make a successful saving throw vs. spell or feel *fear* (per the wizard spell). This screaming continues for 1d4+2 rounds and requires each character to make a fear check every round. Track 76 provides the sound effect. If all the heroes fail





their saving throws, Morgoroth repeats the strategy if they approach again.

Touching the Body: If anyone actually touches the body, he discovers it is tremendously cold. This is the result of the unusually wholesome nature with which all members of the Circle were blessed to a magical degree. If the body is touched with bare flesh (outstretched fingers, for example), the character suffers 4d4 points of cold damage. A saving throw vs. paralysis must also be made, with failure indicating that the limb has frozen solid. If this happens, the limb becomes useless. What's worse, a sharp blow to that area causes it to shatter completely.

The limb thaws in 3d4 rounds, but a cure light wounds or other healing spell must be cast on it. If not, the limb becomes gangrenous in one hour (six turns) and falls off in one day. During that time, only strong magic (like a *heal* spell) can save the limb.

Defiling the Body: Anyone who searches the body, is disrespectful to it in any way, or attempts to take something from it (like the holy sword) is committing an evil act (grave robbing). In addition to requiring a Ravenloft powers check (see the Campaign Setting box), the character falls victim to a magical curse that reflects the opposite of the paladin's own, natural powers. From that day forward, the curse victim suffers a -2 penalty to all saving throws, and a -4 penalty if the save involves a disease or some sort. Also, the character must make a successful fear check whenever he sees someone turn undead or become gripped with the same aversion experienced by the undead. Only by saving the life of a paladin can the character break this dreadful malady.

24. Bathroom

The tub in here is empty. Most of the liquids, powders, and oils that fill this room have been rendered useless by the passage of time. All in all, there is almost nothing of any value in this room.

Casting a Detect Magic spell: The one

exception to this general decomposition is an innocent-looking white washcloth, folded and stacked with a dozen others. If a detect magic is cast in the room, this cloth proves to be enchanted. If the cloth is moistened with holy water and drawn across the forehead of a character, it confers upon him the benefits of a bless spell for one hour. The cloth can be used on any individual only once in a 24-hour period; excess applications in that period have no effect. If more than one character is to be *blessed*, the cloth must be moistened before each application. A vial of holy water contains enough fluid to bless three persons.

25. Master Bedroom

Examining the Orb: Anyone who

carefully examines the orb notices an

area of darkness within it. This is Shard 3. (Play track 89 if desired.) Like the orbs in the hallway. this sphere contains a magical essence. Those the party found earlier held lightning, but this orb stores the magical power of a fireball. Any blow shatters the sphere, triggering the spell. If released, the *fireball* inflicts 10d6 points of damage to everyone and everything in the room.

If the sphere is broken, the shard falls to the bed, which is burning following a detonation. If the shard is not recovered within three rounds, it becomes damaged as the bed collapses from fire damage. Fortunately, a mending spell can restore it.

A dispel magic cast upon the orb causes its magical power to flicker and die. At that point, it may be broken without risk because the essence of fire within it is no more.

26. Bathroom

41

Breaking the Ice: The glass in the tub is Shard 10. (Play track 89) If the





III: EXPLORING PERGEBON MANOR

shattering the mirror piece. Although the DM is free to determine the chances of this based upon the techniques employed by the characters, the shard should probably make a successful saving throw vs. crushing blow to escape damage. If the shard is broken, a *mending* or similar spell is required to repair it.

Melting the Ice: If the ice is somehow melted, the shard is fairly easy to recover. Morgoroth makes the experience unforgettable, however, as he employs his darklord powers to transform the melted ice into blood. It is important to note that this is *not* an illusion. Morgoroth turns the crimson liquid into a blood elemental just as the shard is liberated. As a rule the adventurers should be allowed enough time to say something like "See, I told you we could melt the ice without any danger" before the creature attacks.

27. Closet

As might be expected, this area holds Morgoroth's clothes. For the most part they are so well made as to be worth twice the cost of a similar item listed in the Equipment section of the *Player's Handbook*. If characters wish to loot this closet, they are free to do so. The DM should establish reasonable limits as to

what might be found here, but Morgoroth was very fond of his wardrobe, so these ought to be generous. Nothing in here is magical though. Searching for Secret Doors: A secret door in here provides access to a stairway that leads up to the second floor. Scratches and gouges in the

to the second floor. Scratches and gouges in the floor and ceiling of the closet, made when the door swung open, may reveal its location to adventurers who fail to invoke searching rules. The latch for the door is disguised as an unused coat hook.

A fragment of the shattered mirror is wedged between two of the slats that make up the staircase side of the secret door. This is **Shard 2**. Since the door opens in and away from the party, they will not spot the shard unless they inspect the back of the door. (Play track 89 if desired.)

Second Floor

As usual, the ceiling height in all of these chambers is assumed to be 15 feet. The library (Area 29) is the exception, having a 30-foot ceiling. Access to the this floor is possible only through the secret stairs behind Morgoroth's closet (Area 27) unless the heroes chop through the ceiling of the first floor.

On the second floor the temperature varies between about 15° and 25° Fahrenheit. Not only is this very uncomfortable, but it imposes a -2 penalty on all characters' attack rolls and saving throws. This penalty can be negated by magical spells or special equipment (like winter clothing) designed to negate the effects of cold.

28. Laboratory

the top.

The stairs from the first floor provide access to the laboratory, but they also

access to the laboratory, but they also continue upward to the third floor and Area 32. Go to page 24 if the heroes continue to climb to

Examining The North Wall: The items along the north wall are spell components. Morgoroth maintained a great collection of such things. In many cases he had components that had no known use but which he expected to be able to employ at some point in the future. There is a 75% chance that any spell component the adventurers wish to look for can be found here. The language in which the jars are labeled is Morgoroth's own code. It can be deciphered with a *read languages* or similar spell.

Examining the Heart: If anyone takes the time to examine the thing that looks uncomfortably like a human heart, the DM may wish to tease him by playing track 66 (beating heart) as he approaches it. Anyone who has experience in such matters is able to tell that this organ came from a carnivorous ape. Close examination reveals **Shard 13** is in the jar with it. (Play track 89 if desired.) This jar, as well as any of the others, can be opened with little effort, and the shard is easily retrieved.



Examining The Tables: Anyone who tinkers with the experiment tables has a chance of setting off a spell effect. Each round during which one of the tables is examined in any way requires the character doing so to make an ability check against his Wisdom score. A failed check indicates the spell effect activates.

In order to determine the exact effect that activates, the DM should flip to the list of Wizard's spells in the *Player's Handbook*, close his eyes, then stab his finger at the page (levels 1–6 only). The spell under the DM's finger is the one that goes off. If more than one spell is indicated, the DM should pick the one with the greatest shock value for the characters.

29. Library

Searching the Library: Morgoroth's collection of historical reference

materials is unequaled. Labeled in the same language found in the wizard's laboratory, this facility was an incredibly valuable tool upon which both Morgoroth and the Knights of the Circle relied heavily.

In addition to all the mundane tomes that fill this room, Morgoroth has added a number of magical volumes to his collection. A careful search of the library, which almost certainly has to include the casting of a *detect magic* spell, turns up a *manual of golems* for each of the six Ravenloft golems (bone, doll, gargoyle, glass, mechanical, and zombie—see the RAVENLOFT MONSTROUS COMPENDIUM appendix one). In addition, a *Boccob's blessed book* and a *libram of ineffable damnation* can be found.

Examining the Third Table: The real treasures in this room, however, are the large magical tome and the mirror shard on the third table. The former is Morgoroth's own spellbook, and the latter is **Shard 5**. The necromancer's grimoire contains all of the 1st- through 6thlevel spells from the necromancy, abjuration, and invocation/evocation schools. These are written in a special code created by Morgoroth and require a *read magic* spell to decipher. The aura that surrounds the book is one of the magical protections that Morgoroth has woven over it. In fact, this is a harmless glow that naturally radiates from the tome and winks out of existence the instant anyone touches it—a harmless though intimidating effect. If the aura fails to frighten off a would-be thief, however, addition spells protect the book.

Picking up the Shard: Once the aura is "defeated," the shard may be picked up freely. However, unless a hero states that he is attempting to do so without touching the spellbook, however, tragic results are likely:

Touching the Book: Anyone with 13 or fewer Hit Dice who touches the book after the blue aura is dispelled is affected by a *feign death* spell unless a saving throw vs. death magic is successful. To the victim's companions, of course, it looks like the character has been stricken dead. Unless dispelled, the spell wears off in three hours.

Releasing the Clasp: Anyone who attempts to release the clasp on the book triggers a cloudkill spell which immediately fills a 10-foot cube around the book, then expands at a rate of 10 feet per round until the entire room is filled. Creatures with fewer than 4+1 Hit Dice are instantly slain by this cloud, with no saving throw allowed. Creatures with between 4+1 and 5+1 Hit Dice are entitled to a saving throw vs. poison with a -4 penalty to avoid death. Creatures of up to 6 Hit Dice are also be killed if they fail an unmodified saving throw. Those with more than 6 Hit Dice, or who successfully made their saving throws, suffer 1d10 points of damage during each round that they remain in the room. The cloud lingers for 13 rounds.

Opening the Book: Opening the book sets off a *fire trap* spell that inflicts 1d4+13 points of damage to all characters within 5 feet. A saving throw vs. spell is allowed to reduce this damage by half. The spellbook itself is not harmed by the detonation.

Reading the Title Page: The first page of the book is clearly some manner of introductory page, as the text upon it is set below something





III: EXPLORING PERGERON MANOR

that is obviously a title, and the swirling signature of Morgoroth lies at the bottom. This is also a trap, an *explosive runes* spell. Anyone who reads any part of the page without first saying "Morgoroth" triggers the spell, inflicting 6d4+6 points of damage upon all within 10 feet. The reader is not entitled to a saving throw, but others suffer only half damage if they make a successful saving throw vs. spell. If this spell is triggered, the book is reduced to a fine, white ash.

Translating the Book: If all the traps are diffused, there is little doubt that wizards in the party will want to decipher the spells in Morgoroth's book so that they can transfer them to their own magical tomes. Because the necromancer changed his encryption formula with each spell, a *read magic* must be used on each one independently.

Of course, Morgoroth was a very paranoid man, so only about half of the pages in this book are actually inscribed with magical spells. Whenever a character casts a *read magic* upon one of the pages, there is only a 50% chance that he gets what he hopes for.

Otherwise, the sheet on which a spell appears to be recorded is a magically bound spirit that is freed by the *read magic* spell. The DM should roll 1d6 on the following table to determine the type of monster released:

- 1. Banshee
- 4. Shadow asp
- Crimson death mist
 Spectre
- 5. Shadow 6. Wraith

30. Alchemical Storage

46

A staircase in the northwestern corner of the room leads up to the bellringer's chamber (Area 31.)

Examining the Containers: Although the crates and boxes don't appear to be labeled, most are marked in invisible script; the casting of either a *read languages* spell or a *detect magic* reveals this. As with all of the other writing in this place, only someone with the natural or magical ability to read the language of

Avonleigh is able to decipher the labels.

Three of the cases, all of which look like 12inch-long coffins, are *not* labeled at all. As they are placed apart from the others, it is likely that the characters will notice them.

Opening the Cases: Defeating the silver locks requires a successful open locks roll with a –25% penalty due to their minute size and intricate construction. Spells like *knock* can be used to defeat these closures. A failed attempt to open any container causes it to flash brightly (but harmlessly) and smoulder away into fine white ash, destroying the box and its contents.

Inside the Labeled Cases: If the locks are opened, the characters find a great wealth of scientific and magical equipment. There are braziers, coils of copper tubing, flasks and beakers of all sizes, and a seemingly endless assortment of related devices. Hidden in the bottom of each container is a magical item: three *pearls of power* (one each of 1st-, 2nd-, and 3rd-level) in one; a *rope of climbing* in the next; a *scarab of death* in the last. A *detect magic* spell is required to recognize any of them as something of value.

Inside the Unlabeled Cases: Two of the blank boxes are *spirit traps* and the third contains **Shard 11**. (Play track 89)

The traps function as *mirrors of life trapping* save that they each hold only one prisoner. When a new victim is trapped, the previous one is released. One of them contains a hook horror and the second holds a hell hound. Both have been driven insane by their prolonged captivity and go berserk with battle-fury when released.

Third Floor

Access to this floor is possible through two separate staircases. To reach the bellringer's chamber (Area 31), the heroes must climb the steps in the alchemical storage room (Area 30). To reach Morgoroth's cell block (Area 32), they must continue up the steps that begin in the master bedroom's closet (Area 18). Of course, the heroes may attempt to chop through the



ceiling of the second floor. When this happens, the ceiling is considered to have an AC of 10 and must sustain 40 points of damage in order to create a hole large enough for a man to climb through.

On the third floor the temperature varies between about 5° and 15° Fahrenheit. Not only is this extremely uncomfortable, it imposes a –3 penalty upon all characters' attack rolls and saving throws. This penalty can be negated by magical spells or reduced to –1 by special equipment (like winter clothing) designed to negate the effects of cold.

31. Bellringer's Chamber

This room lies directly below the bell chamber where Aurora Shadowborn sleeps (see Area 33). It has wooden walls that are somewhat weathered but still sound for the most part. A solid blow to one of them by a character with a Strength of 15 or higher punches right through, however—something a dramatic DM might want to keep in mind.

Stirring up the Dust: Anyone who performs any action that might kick up a fair quantity of the dust in this chamber summons the guardian of this place, a vampiric mist. Sufficient "actions" include walking across the floor, casting *qust of wind*, or vigorous movement.

When the dust is disturbed, a strong wind springs to life and the room is instantly filled with a choking cloud of particles, imposing a –4 penalty upon attack rolls. One round later, the vampiric mist forms. This mist is not a natural creature, but the product of a magical powder mixed with the dust that covers the floor. During the battle, a mirror shard is clearly visible on the floor near the center of the room. (When the dust was on the floor, it was hidden from view.) This is **Shard 4**. (Play track 89)

After the vampiric mist is destroyed, the dust settles to the floor and once again forms a thick blanket. If disturbed a second time, it kicks up irritating clouds, but has no other effect. The vampiric mist does not form again. **Pulling the Ropes:** The ropes in this room run up to the bells one level above. The glow that surrounds them is part of the magical aura that closes off the belfry. Any attempt to pull or move the ropes reveals that they are as rigid as steel. Nothing can bend them as long as the magical glow surrounds them. Attempts to damage the ropes fail; neither might nor magic is able to affect them in the slightest.

In fact, it isn't even possible to actually touch the ropes. The yellow light forms a barrier that no force in the world can dispel. Only when all of the shards have been placed in the mirror and Morgoroth has been restored to physical form does this field collapse.

32. Cells

Over the years, many people have made their ways into Avonleigh. Those who died facing the many lethal threats of the domain were magically interred in the graveyard







outside. Those less fortunate were sealed in this room and left to die. The lingering nature of time in Avonleigh has resulted in the prolonged state of decay and corruption that the heroes witness here.

Entering the Room: The door into this room is a one-way portal that magically seals behind anyone that enters. It can be opened easily from outside of Area 32, but not from within. This isn't a big problem for the characters if at least one of them remains on the steps or downstairs. If they all enter, however, the door slams shut behind the last one, and only force (a successful opendoors roll) or magic (like a *knock* spell) opens it.

Entering the Cells: Like the door, the cells can be opened easily from the outside via a small latch on each door. Someone inside the cell cannot open the door, however, even if he reaches outside and tries to work the latch. Only force or magic allows someone inside a cell to open the door.

Morgoroth animates the 33 rotted bodies that lie in here, who attack as ghouls, if anyone attempts to force any of the doors in the room, including the one leading to the stairs. Of course, those undead locked in cells may not be able to get to the heroes, but still they reach through the bars and groan hungrily, prompting horror checks. Of course, Morgoroth can make freed ghouls open doors for others as well. If possible, the dead adventurer in the hallway will open the nearest cell door, releasing 1d4 ghouls, before engaging the heroes. Then, one of those newly freed undead will attempt to open the rest of the cell doors and release all imprisoned monsters, which attack the party.

Examining the Common Corpses: The 33 corpses of the common folk lie scattered about the cells like fallen branches after a storm. If they are not animated, or after the heroes have defeated them all, a search of their remains uncovers valuables totaling about 100 gold pieces in value. Looting these bodies, of course, requires a Ravenloft powers check.

There is a 25% chance that any body examined contains a carrion stalker.

Examining the Adventurer's Corpse: This young woman saw her companions killed as they explored the halls of Tergeron Manor. She fled from the horrors that claimed them, only to die here. Her last act was to claim the mirrored shard that she found in this room.

Picking up the Shard: Any adventurer that comes close enough to this corpse to touch it can claim the fragment in her hand. There is no danger associated with the shard itself. This is Shard 7. (Play track 89)

Fourth Floor

There is only one room on this floor, which is the belfry, where the priestess Aurora Shadowborn sleeps in a state of catatonia in a glass coffin (see page 28). This room has a height of 30 feet, only the bottom half of which is walled in. The top of the room is open to the air, allowing the pealing of the bells to be heard throughout the domain.

The freezing cold temperature on this level automatically subjects the heroes to frostbite conditions. See the back cover of this booklet for more information.

A magical barrier effectively sequesters this room until all of the 13 shards are replaced in the mirror and the entire history of Morgoroth is told; this includes the open area at the top of the tower. Once the mirror is reassembled, the wizard is freed from his ethereal state and the barrier simultaneously falls. Until then, however, there is *no way* that the heroes can enter Area 33. Therefore, the adventures must go back downstairs to the parlor (Area 16), completely reassemble the mirror, and listen to the full story of Morgoroth in order to reach the fourth floor and complete the adventure.

Of course, once the tale is told, the wizard is released from his ethereal trap and the heroes must deal with him before doing anything else. Proceed to the next chapter to resolve that confrontation and bring the adventure to an end, for better or worse.

V: THE GRAND FINALE

irrors are there when we are and yet they never give anything back to us but our own image. Never, never shall we know what they are when they are alone or what is behind them. —Erich Maria Remargue,

The Black Obelisk

The climax of this adventure occurs when the last of the 13 shards is put into place in the frame of the mirror in the parlor (Area 16). This needn't be Shard 13, as the fragments can be placed on the mirror in any order. Whatever its number, when the last shard is put in place, the mirror glows brightly and that portion of Morgoroth's story is told. Proceed to "The Necromancer Returns," below, and track 50.

There are actually three elements to the conclusion of this adventure: the return of Morgoroth and his attempt to destroy the adventurers ("The Necromancer Returns," below); the release of Aurora Shadowborn from her crystal coffin ("The Sleeping Corpse," page 28); the escape of the party from Ravenloft ("Leaving the Mists Behind," page 31).

The Necromancer Returns



t is quite likely that the characters will wish to attack Morgoroth as he steps out of the mirror. Because of the powerful magic associated with this event, however, their efforts are wasted. Only after he has exited the mirror for a round, during which time he solidifies, is Morgoroth vulnerable. Prior to that time, any attack directed at him is absorbed by the mirror through which he is stepping.

If the heroes decide to break the mirror any time after Morgoroth leaves it, proceed directly to

"The Necromancer's Doom" and track 53.

Morgoroth has not been blind to the actions of the heroes. He knows full well that they have pieced together the mirror and have learned his history. He has also seen them in battle, and he knows their strengths and weaknesses.

Talking Things Over

If the characters do not instantly attack him, Morgoroth is willing to talk with them. He refuses to allow them to enter the belfry, though, and he certainly has no intention of letting them free the priestess from her coffin!

No matter what the characters tell him, the necromancer does not believe that Aurora ever loved him. Even if she did, he reasons, his actions will have driven that out of her. After all, he killed her beloved brother. (On that count, Morgoroth is right. If Aurora were to learn what happened to Ferran, she would curse his name for all time.)

If the adventurers agree to leave the manor peacefully and to seek escape from Avonleigh without bothering the wizard, he lets them go through the Mists unhindered. He realizes that they freed his spirit, and by letting them leave his house alive he feels that he has discharged his debt to them. Such an agreement should be difficult for heroes to accept, however, for it leaves the priestess imprisoned.

The Last Battle

If the adventurers threaten Morgoroth or if he sees them as too weak to defend themselves, the wizard simply attacks them; refer to his combat abilities on page 3–5. Fighting the necromancer is not easy. In addition to all of the magical powers that he possesses, he is the lord of this domain and the dark powers do not allow their toys to be easily destroyed.

As soon as combat erupts, Morgoroth summons allies, filling the room with 1d8+6 shadows and 1d6 spectres. This does not constitute his action for the round.

If the heroes have shown themselves to be powerful enemies during their exploration of the

IV: THE BRAND FINALE

manor, Morgoroth attempts to flood the room with a *death fog* spell and make an escape. Throughout the rest of the adventure, he torments the party and attempts to use his spells to weaken it. Once he feels that the heroes are no longer a real threat, he returns and attempts to destroy them once and for all.

If the heroes have not proven themselves an organized force during their time in Avonleigh, Morgoroth shows them no mercy: He bombards them with spells and then slips away for a round or two. When the heroes let their guard down, he returns and attacks again.

The Necromancer Falls



O hp or less. (Otherwise, skip to "The Necromancer's Fate," below). When defeat is upon the necromancer, and escape is impossible, he utters a last incantation and falls apparently dead. In fact, Morgoroth has just cast a *feign death* spell. If the party members do not inflict further damage upon him, he wakens in just over three hours. By "playing possum," Morgoroth hopes to avenge his defeat later.

The Necromancer's Fate



5

Play track 52 if Morgoroth is overwhelmed and slain before he has the chance to feign his death. If this happens,

Morgoroth's essence once again is contained within the wood and stone that comprises Tergeron Manor.

It is important to note, however, that the ward which Morgoroth previously placed upon the belfry has failed. Although he can use his normal ability to close doors in an attempt to keep the adventurers out, they will have little difficulty in reaching the top of the tower now.

If the heroes go about and collect the fragments again, they can restore the mirror and free Morgoroth a second (or third, or whatever) time. The DM needs to randomly distribute the debris if they start to do this, and toss in new encounters to challenge them. As each piece is returned to the frame, the heroes hear its portion of Avonleigh's history again. Morgoroth does not attempt to stop the heroes from doing this because he will be released again, with full hit points and a complete complement of spells!

The Necromancer's Doom

Play track 53 if the heroes elect to attack the mirror after Morgoroth has stepped out of it. A single blow against the mirror's AC 10 surface is sufficient to shatter it. This is the only way in which the necromancer can be utterly defeated. Any other fate that befalls him simply returns his spirit to the walls of the house itself.

The Sleeping Corpse

nce the adventurers have dealt with Morgoroth in the parlor, they will probably wish to return to the belfry and investigate the one room they could not previously enter.

On the fourth floor the temperature varies between -5° and 5° Fahrenheit. Not only is this almost unbearable, but it imposes a -4 penalty upon all characters' attack rolls and saving throws. However, this penalty can be negated by magical spells or reduced to -2 by special equipment (like winter clothing) designed to negate the effects of cold.

In addition to the die-roll penalties it imposes, the cold is so severe that it inflicts 1 point of damage per turn to characters without winter clothing or magical protection. Unusually exposed characters suffer 1 point of damage per round (DM's call).

Area 33: The Belfry

As soon as the heroes reach this room, play track 49. Allow the heroes to react to the scene before them. When at last they







begin to try and open the coffin, the DM should judge whether they will simply try once and give up or proceed to more and more drastic measures. If the heroes are not quick to give up, allow them to try anything they can think of. When at last they run out of ideas, or if any of them decides to pull on one of the bell ropes, proceed immediately to the next section and track 54.

The Crystal Coffin



Play track 54 when the heroes finally realize that they can't break through the

glass coffin. Note that if the heroes decide to pull on the bell ropes at any point, the DM must rephrase the wording of the CD track, which explains that they do so by accident. (This is to account for adventurers who do not think to try it.)

In fact, the only way to free the priestess is to ring the great bells of Tergeron Manor. With the tolling of these ancient instruments, the very fabric of Avonleigh is affected. Once the heroes figure this out, proceed to the next section and track 55.

The Pealing of the Bells

Play track 55 when the heroes begin to deliberately pull on the bell ropes. There are 15 bells and a rope for each one, and all of them need to be ringing before the 13 effects listed below begin to manifest over the course of 13 rounds. Note that the heroes must specifically state that they intend to get all 15 bells ringing. Once they decide to do so and say as much, accomplishing this goal requires only one round of effort by at least three people.

Unless the heroes go downstairs to Area 31 to ring bells, the pealing is so loud that they actually suffer damage from the painful noise. Make the players roll 1d4 each round and subtract the results from their characters' hitpoint totals. (Since the heroes are, in effect, inflicting damage upon themselves, the players should be allowed to determine the extent of it.) The progression of events accompanying each of the 13 rounds of ringing is described below.

- The temperature in all of Avonleigh rises by 10° Fahrenheit. This brings the temperature in the belfry to 5°.
- 2. The maximum level of light that can be produced anywhere in the domain rises by one step (see the light table on the back cover of this booklet).
- 3. Hairline fractures begin to spread across the surface of the crystal coffin.
- 4. The temperature in Avonleigh rises another $10^\circ\,degrees.$
- 5. The lighting in Avonleigh increases another level.
- The hairline fractures become deeper cracks that run the length of the crystal coffin.
- 7. The temperature in Avonleigh increases another 10°.
- 8. The maximum level of lighting in Avonleigh increases one step.
- 9. Pieces of the coffin begin to break off and fall to the floor, where they shatter into tiny fragments no larger than a fingernail.
- The temperature throughout the domain rises another 10°. The belfry is now above freezing at 35°.
- 11. Aurora's eyes pop open.
- 12. Aurora begins to gasp for breath in the confines of the glass coffin.
- 13. The crystal coffin shatters. Aurora is freed and restored to life!

Back from the Dead



If the heroes have been ringing the bells from Area 31, they hear a loud cracking noise from above. When they go upstairs to investigate, play track 56. If any or all of them are already in the belfry after the 13th round of ringing, play the track immediately.

The priestess is confused and weak when she awakens from her slumber. She knows nothing of what happened after Morgoroth came to her in the temple. The heroes may tell her what they







have learned from the mirror or not, as they desire.

Too weak to defend herself or cast spells, Aurora is at the mercy of the characters. In addition, they have to protect her from harm if the party is attacked, as she has only 10 hit points. This increases at the rate of 5 points per day until she regains her maximum hit point level of 40. Magical healing does not speed this process because of the residual effects of the spell that held her in the coffin.

With things as they are, Aurora is little more than baggage for the characters to drag along with them. If they tell her of Ferran's fate, she is horrified and sick with grief. Even if she isn't told of these tragic events, she is too confused and dazed by the lingering effects of Morgoroth's enchantment to contribute much to the party's efforts at escaping from Avonleigh.

The Necromancer's Desperation

Even if Morgoroth has been killed through the destruction of the mirror in the parlor, his spirit lives on as a geist—trapped in Avonleigh by the dark powers—and he is enraged beyond mortal bounds at heroes' actions. The thought that his beloved Aurora has been successfully freed by these meddling intruders is more than he can bear. In addition, he is terrified that the adventurers may actually find some means of escaping the Demiplane of Dread, and that he will lose Aurora altogether and forever. That would be worse than living death itself!

Play track 57 when the heroes say words to the effect of "Let's get out of here!" To prevent this from happening,



Morgoroth unleashes all of his powers on the heroes. Geists rise from the Phantasmal Forest, freezing winds blow through the castle, and whispering voices of despair assure the characters of their coming defeat. If he can't destroy them, he hopes to at least keep the priestess from leaving. Therefore, attack the heroes with as many incorporeal undead as will sorely test the limits of their capacity to survive. While Morgoroth is careful to avoid harming the priestess with his attacks, either as an ethereal wizard or an undead shadow, she still requires the protection of the heroes if she is to live. This is a good chance for the DM to toss in some situations that require the adventurers to act like real heroes by saving Aurora from accidents and injuries. For example, she might stumble to the wall of the belfry, seeking to avoid the fight, only to have the wall give way and leave her hanging tenuously onto a loose board, dangling over a four-story drop!

GRAND FINALE

Because this is supposed to be the dramatic ending of the story, the DM is free to let Morgoroth do things that his description doesn't mention. The only requirement is that they be in character and help to amplify the terror. Examples of the sorts of things that Morgoroth might do include: causing the ropes that hang from the bells to entangle characters; causing the bells to break loose and fall, inflicting 5d10 points of crushing damage upon a successful hit and potentially falling through the 40-hp floor, taking the hero along for 1d6 points of falling damage per 10 feet fallen. (Note that a bell inflicts 5d10 points of damage upon each floor it hits, possibly breaking through several stories before coming to a halt.)

Leaving the Mists Behind

ith the necromancer either dead or trapped within the walls of the house again and the priestess freed, the heroes have only the challenge of escaping Ravenloft ahead of them. If they keep their wits about them, however, escape is within their grasp.

The Silver Portal

If the players remember the description of the belfry, they will recall that the surface of the silver table is a mirror. After the restoration of the priestess, this has become a magical portal that can carry the adventurers back to their native land. As soon as any character except the priestess touches the mirror, play track 58.



IV: THE GRAND EI

Aurora is not able to escape in this manner—Morgoroth is still lord of Avonleigh, even if he is no more than a geist, and he is using all his will to close the door to her. If she holds on or is lashed to a hero when he touches the mirror, however, she is pulled in with him. Aurora does not suggest this solution because she is still dazed and disoriented; one of the heroes must think of this himself, possibly earning extra experience points for doing so. Parties who abandon her should gain few experience points for completing the adventure.

Returning Home

When all of the adventurers have entered the mirror, play track 59. If

desired, each hero might be sent to a different place in his home plane, thus challenged to find his friends in a follow-up adventure of the DM's making.

At some point in the voyage, the priestess loses her grip on the champion who carried her through the portal. If she is tied or otherwise secured to him, the bond breaks. The magic of this portal always returns people to their homelands, so the priestess cannot follow the adventurers to their native realm.

A little divination magic on the part of the players might be used to discover the fate of the priestess. After all, real heroes should worry that she is still trapped in Ravenloft. In actuality, she has returned to the real land of Avonleigh and left its counterpart on the Demiplane of Dread far behind. Award bonus experience points to those who try to find out.


Avonleigh Temperature and Light Table

General Location	Average Temperature	Maximum Light
Forest	55°	Bonfire
Grounds	45°	Campfire
Ground Floor	35°	Cooking Fire
1st Floor	25°	Lantern
2nd Floor	15°	Torch
3rd Floor	5°	Oil Lamp
4th Floor	-5° (frostbite conditions)	Candle

Suitable nonmagical protection against the cold includes such things as hard leather or fur boots for the feet, gloves or mittens for the hands, and furs or heavy cloaks for the body. If a character is wet for any reason, he is treated as though he were in an environment that is one step colder on the chart above.

Frostbite: Adventurers attempting to escape Avonleigh through the Mists or who climb to the fourth floor of Tergeron Manor are subject to frostbite even if they have magical protection against the cold. Even a *cloak of warmth* is ineffective protection. Within a single round each hero begins to experience the effects of the cold: He suffers 1-3 points of damage per round, a – 4 penalty to all attack and damage rolls, a loss of one-third of his normal movement rate, and a loss of 1 point of Constitution per round. When half of a character's Constitution points are lost, he must roll a successful saving throw vs. Breath Weapon each round or hypothermia sets in.

If the adventurer leaves the Mists before hypothermia sets in, Constitution points return at a rate of 1 per turn. Movement returns to normal when all lost Constitution points have been recovered, but lost hit points may be regained only through rest or magical means.

Hypothermia: Characters who cross more than 200 yards into the Mists are automatically subject to the effects of hypothermia, regardless of protection against the cold, magical or otherwise. A character suffering from the effects of hypothermia faces a – 6 penalty to attack and damage rolls, a loss of two-thirds of his normal movement rate, and he begins to lose 1 point of both Dexterity and Strength each round (in addition to the continued loss of Constitution from frost-bite). If any two Ability Scores fall to 3 or less, the adventurer becomes incapacitated, permanently losing the use of one hand or foot (determined randomly) each turn he fails a saving throw vs. Breath Weapon. Victims suffering this loss must make a successful System Shock roll each turn or die. If any Ability Score reaches 0, the character dies.

If a character who is suffering from hypothermia is removed from the cold environment before death, he requires one day of full rest in a warm environment $(70^{\circ} + F.)$ before he is upgraded to frostbite status; no attempt to heal the character will succeed until then. Only a *regenerate* spell can restore a limb lost to the cold.

Phantasmal Forest Encounter Table

Roll 1d10	Natural	Supernatural
1	Bat, large	Banshee
2	Bear, brown	Ghost
3	Beetle, rhinoceros	Haunt
4	Centipede, giant	Crimson death mist
5	Scorpion, large	Vampiric mist
6	Snake, poisonous	Phantom
7	Spider, large	Shadow
8	Wolf or Worg	Spectre
9	Wolf, winter	Will o'wisp
10	Roll on other table	Roll on other table

ADVANCED DUNGEONS & DRAGONS and RAVENLOFT are registered trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. The TSR logo is a trademark owned by TSR, Inc. ©1995 TSR, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Official Campaign Adventure

Ó

The Domain of

200 000

Jewsequeud

be Road make

TSSIO

Avonleigh

Scale: 1 Inch

Wyndham Lake

Tergeron Manor The Old Fens

plo.

s.Buix

ROLLI

R

RD

33

Aemybin achun

Marsh

Marsh

River Avalon







CD Audio Transcription

Track 1: The Coming of Morgoroth

<Music and lightning in the background>

In the bright days before Morgoroth darkened the land of Avonleigh. Before that fair world slipped into the Domain of Dread there existed an order of paladins known as The Circle. Avonleigh and its surrounding forests were protected by this renown group of champions, all of whom were devoted to the cause of law and order. Then on a stormy night when the skies raged against the land, he appeared - Morgoroth, Bane of Goodness and Light.

<Sound of rain>

"I must keep going. I must. I... What is that I see before me, the white gold of The Circle. Yes, there I shall find shelter, and salvation, if the gods please. By the gods I shall atone for the murders I have committed, the atrocities that stain my soul. By the Gods I will, I will atone."

<Sound of knocking and the opening and closing of a door>

Making the furtive sign of the evil eye, the servant ushered the strange mage into the private chambers of Ferran Shadowborn, the leader of The Circle. That noble paladin listened to Morgoroth's words, and listened well.

<Sounds of footsteps down a hall>

"Hear me out Lord Ferran, hear my cause before judging me, that is all I ask."

"I have granted you an audience man, and I will listen to your tale. Now tell me your troubles, for I see that much has befallen you."

And so Morgoroth told Ferran Shadowborn of his past. And the mage did not stint at painting the picture black. But the noble paladin saw the suffering that wracked Morgoroth and Ferran knew the man longed only to escape the evil of his ways and begin a new. The leader of the mightly Order of The Circle asked the mage to swear an oath of allegiance. Morgoroth readily agreed, vowing to repent his past wickedness. In exchange Ferran granted the wizard a parcel of land, here in fair Avonleigh, and that is now Morgoroth came to live peacefully in a world free of his troubled past.

Track 2: The Building of Tergeron

<Sounds of a storm>

The very night that Morgoroth bid ado to his new liege he entered the forest that was to become his home. In the deepest part of the forest, just at midnight, he began to chant. <Sounds of chanting> All through the night he performed his macabre rituals, calling on the mysteries of magic he alone controlled. Morgoroth the Black to no heed of the storm around him as he worked his magics upon the land. <"Fantastic" sounds of a magic spell and wood cracking> At dawn the mage stopped, exhausted but triumphant. Before him stood Tergeron Manor, the estate that magic had built in a single stormy night.

"At last a home to call my own. Oh, I will prove worthy of these good people here in Avonleigh. I pray the Gods I will."

Rumors of the house's sudden construction whispered through the land of Avonleigh. Before long the tales which were spread included stories of ghosts haunting the manor house and Morgoroth's wood came to be called the "Phantasmal Forest." - how rightly so.

Track 3: Morgoroth, Ferran, & The Circle

<Background music>

Like all wizards Morgoroth was mysterious and aloof. To Ferran, however, he proved to me a friend and trusted counselor. The mage's sage advice never failed the paladin. The rest of the circle did not fully trust the moody Morgoroth. None dared speak against him however, for it was clear he held the esteem of Ferran. Years passed and Morgoroth's excellent service allayed the fears of The Circle's members. <Sounds of spirits wailing in agony> Not even the presence of wailing spirits haunting the "Phantasmal Forest" caused the paladin's disquiet. For were not spirits simply a natural part of a wizard's setting. Indeed Morgoroth kept the lost souls under control, and they never bothered fair Avonleigh.

Track 4: Forbidden Love

<Background music>

Now Ferran Shadowborn had a sister named Aurora. She was as lovely as the dawn after which she had been named. Her skin was pale with the flush of roses and her hair was the golden glimmer of sunlight on corn silk. Moreover she was blessed with a pure soul, free of envy. No man had yet touched her heart, and she longed only to serve her church.

"By the gods, the feelings that well up inside of me when I see her. Her grace, intelligence, beauty... I fell in love with her the moment that I saw her, as trite as that might sound. But who would not, she was always unfailing kind to me. But she loves the church not me, and she is to be its high priestess."

"I dare not tell Morgoroth of the longing that stirs in me at the sight of him. Oh, how can I? I am soon to take my formal vows as high priestess. All my life I have prepared to be a priestess to the gods. How could I give myself instead to just one man? If he were to ask though, I fear I would, with a joyous heart."

The would-be lovers resisted, so neither declared their love. Aurora took her vows to high priestess, swearing he life to celibacy and the church, and all the while she prayed she would find comfort there. Morgoroth likewise turned to other distractions when his feelings grew too much to bear. He spent long hours researching new magic, or questing with Ferran. The lovers met every now and then, in the course of Morgoroth's business at The Circle. Though theirs eyes were filled with longing, neither spoke of it, each falsely assuming they meant little to the other. Aurora was still kind to Morgoroth, and the wizard still cordial to his benefactor's sister. But the tension and longing mounted between the two.

Track 5: Morgoroth's Bane

<"Fantastic" sounds of a magic spell>

"Blast! I'll never, never master this spell. Aurora how I wish you were here. I would tell you of the terrible life I've led. How I've tried to atone for my wicked ways since coming here to fair Avonleigh. If you were only mine, I would be the happiest of men. If we were back in my homeland, I would simply claim you for my own and slay anyone who would deny me. Ah, what a love it would be. But here I must abide by your rules, and I will. I will atone. Perhaps a walk will clear my head of these unobtainable fantasies. No, it is almost sunset and the ghosts will be out. I cannot bear you spirits; you spite me, mock me. Reminding me of the evils that I have done, yet some of you were evil as well. My execution of you was brutal, was just. Why will you not let me live in peace, why? Why?"

Track 6: Morgoroth's Bid

"How long must I be in such torment? How many months, nay, years must pass before my love for Aurora dies a natural death? Will it? Will my love ever die? Or will it continue to haunt me like the spirits in the wood? I can bear this no longer. I must see her and confess my love. She will never speak to me again, but envy even that is preferable to this torment."

That night Morgoroth went to see Aurora. After a few words of polite conversation the pair fell quiet. Then Morgoroth tentatively reached out and tentatively took Aurora's hand.

"I love you Aurora. I've always loved you. And though I know you could never love me, I..., I had to tell you of my feelings. You see I cannot bear it anymore, but please do not be offended by my directness. I ask for nothing, only that you know."

<Sounds of Aurora beginning to cry and then her feet running down the hall>

Aurora tore her hand away and fled the room. Morgoroth convinced that Aurora was horrified by his declaration, left the temple slowly in a state of deep despair. The young high priestess, meanwhile, entered her private chambers.

"Oh, what have I done? I love him so much. I must... I must stay true to my vows. Perhaps he never meant his words. Why has he waited until now to speak? Did he sense my desire for him? Did I lure him into speaking? I have been so evil. He is not to blame, only I am. I should never see him again, never tempt him with my longing glances. But how am I to live without his love. I must devote myself to penitence, through prayers all problems are resolved. And I will learn how to banish these evil thoughts from my heart."

Track 7: A Shadow Of The Past

The despondent Morgoroth withdrew to Tergeron Manor and for more than a year he and Aurora shunned each other. Morgoroth's heart grew bleak, but still he held to the new ideals of goodness that Ferran had instilled in him over the past six years. Then a strange, foreign night arrived in the fair world of Avonleigh. <Sound of horse snorting and hoof beats> The man demanded an audience with Ferran Shadowborn and the other members of The Circle. Ferran requested Morgoroth and Aurora to attend the meeting, for he often sought their counsel. As always the pair avoided look at each other. Indeed Morgoroth pulled his hooded cloak over his brow to keep from seeing the vision of Aurora, but it did not prevent him from recognizing the wayfaring knight.

"Lambert. It is Lambert, the man who drove me from my home."

"I beg the indulgence of the court Lord Shadowborn. I seek a mage, a most despicable wizard of black magics and an even blacker heart. Alas, I know not his name."

The knight when on to list the crimes this mage committed in his homeland. Morgoroth knew it was only a matter of time before he was discovered. He looked about The Circle; saw the faces of the paladins grow dark with anger and discreetly left the counsel.

"They will discover soon enough that I am the wizard that Lambert seeks, but what am I to do? I will not suffer that knight's condemnation of me. I will defend my right to redemption."

So Morgoroth returned to Tergeron Manor and shortly after Lambert caught up with the mage. With nary a word the knight raised his axe and attacked. <Sounds of a battle> Morgoroth respondedly instinctively with spell he'd hoped never to use again. <Sounds of spell casting> The battle was long and bitter, in the end however Lambert was no match for Morgoroth. <Sounds of spell casting and a man dying> The knight fell dead at the wizards feet.

"Your mission is complete Lambert and you have not died in vain. You have made clear what I am, and what I will always be - a necromancer - a practitioner of dark magic, servant of evil. Indeed the spirits have known it all along and soon Ferran and the others shall know as well and they will come for me. Well, let them come. I will be ready."

Track 8: Ferran's Choice

Lambert's words had left The Circle stunned. Incensed by tales of the wizard's evil and convinced that Morgoroth was the one that Lambert had come seeking the members of Avonleigh's counsel made plans to drag the wizards from his lair. Alone of all The Circle's members Ferran Shadowborn counseled patience, trying to call the other paladins.

<Comments such as "He's an evil mage" and "Bring him down">

"The man came here intent on making a new life free of the evil in his homeland. While I do not know all the details of Morgoroth's past it is clear to me that he is a man that had done much evil, but seeks salvation. He came to me six years ago and I asked his allegiance then, in turn he vowed to reform. Tell me, am I to turn my back on him now?"

The counsel members grew silent and none would speak.

"The wizard Morgoroth has been me no harm Brothers. Is there one who will bear witness otherwise? Has he ever been less than faithful to our order?"

<Rumblings of agreement>

The paladins of The Circle, all men of honest and good faith could not argue the noble knight's words. And so it was decided that Ferran would ride to Tergeron Manor and speak directly to the wizard.

Track 9: Lambert's Fate

Ferran Shadowborn reached the gates of Tergeron Manor, his heart heavy and filled with misgivings for he could see that his friend Morgoroth was loosing the battle that raged within him between good and evil.

"Morgoroth. Morgoroth, open the gate and let me pass. I come here in friendship. Do not fear me. I believe in your innate goodness. I am here to help you. Let me counsel you, as you have counseled me so many times. <Sound of a gate opening> What is this? The gate opens. Some sorcery? But, I will enter, Morgoroth. For you I... <Sounds of something flying and then "Aargh!"> By the gods, the knight Lambert, now a living, rotting corpse. <Sounds of battle> Rest poor soul. Rest in everlasting peace. But now to find Morgoroth."

The noble paladin, Ferran Shadowborn, stepped inside Tergeron Manor, but whatever became of his was never to be known. <Sound of door closing> Most certainly he was slain by the black wizard or his minions. Whether Ferran's spirit rests in peace or roams the Phantasmal Forest in misery, none can say.

Track 10: Morgoroth Strikes

Morgoroth did not wait for the remained of The Circle to attack, not while he still had the advantage of surprise. Instead the wizard entered the temple of Aurora Shadowborn just as the high priestess and her attendants were saying the evening prayers.

"Gods by your benevolence, continue to shine. <Gasp> Morgoroth."

"Yes, Aurora, it is I, and now you will truly be mine."

The evil wizard cast a powerful enchantment on the young high priestess <Sounds of spell casting> and Aurora fell unconscious into Morgoroth's waiting arms. Before anyone could even move Morgoroth uttered another incantation. <Sounds of spell casting> The wizard and his captive misappeared. Upon hearing the news of Aurora's capture, and thereby knowing that Ferran Shadowborn had fallen to the wizard's power, the remaining eleven members of The Circle dissolved that Morgoroth be destroyed without hesitation. Immediately they donned their armor and girded their swords and set off for Tergeron Manor.

Track 11: Obituaries

<Sounds of battle>

Three of the knights were slain before they even reached Tergeron Manor for the Phantasmal Forest had become a nightmare world of hostile ghosts and vicious undead, all under the control of the necromancer Morgoroth. Two more paladins died at the gates to Tergeron Manor, slain by a pack of spectral wolves. The six remaining knights, all that were left of the once mighty Order of The Circle entered Morgoroth's manor home and as with the noble Ferran Shadowborn no trace of these men has ever been found. <Sound of door closing>

Track 12: Transformation

<Sounds of storm>

On the night the Order of The Circle perished a strange storm swept Avonleigh, much like the savage tempest that marked Morgoroth's arrival some six years before. All night the winds blew and rain thundered down and nature berated the land. Trees fell to the earth, broken like twigs. All the people of Avonleigh cowered in their homes, certain their world was being ripped apart. In a way they were right. For in the morning when the people joined forces, intending to mob Tergeron Manor there was no sign of the Phantasmal Forest or of Tergeron Manor, only a gently rolling hill, mocked with the debris of the night's storm. The evil wrought by the necromancer Morgoroth was vile indeed, so cruel and malicious were his deeds they had caught the eye of the Dark Powers of Ravenloft. These evil forces wrapped their spectral might around the wizards home and tore it from it's roots transporting Morgoroth and Tergeron Manor into the Demiplane of Dread.

Track 13: Thirteen Shards

Morgoroth was quick to realize that he and his home had been magically abducted by someone, or something, with tremendous powers. Ominously the still form of Aurora had been placed inside a glass coffin, which to spite Morgoroth's frenzied efforts he could not breach. <Sound of rapping>

"I shall find a way out of this dreaded place and I will free you of the cursed coffin. I used a spell of my own creation once before to escape Lambert and his men, and I will use it again.

Morgoroth set out to enchant a freestanding mirror in his parlor, intending that the mirror should act as a portal out of the land of mists. But the spell did not act as planned. <Sounds of spell casting> The mirror exploded into thirteen enchanted fragments which became ethereal and were scattered throughout the manor house, by the blast, regaining their substance elsewhere. <"Fantastic" sounds, and "Aargh!">

"What is happening? What is happening to me? The gods..."

Morgoroth's so closely tied to the enchantment, also turned ethereal and scattered throughout the house. His very essence imbued Tergeron Manor

with an evil sentience. The transformation corrupted Morgoroth, robbing him of his last shred of sanity. Now, decades later, Aurora still lays death-like in her coffin, waiting for someone to free her from Morgoroth's spell.

<Closing music>

Track 14: The Gate

<Sounds of metal rustling>

The sturdy iron gate bars your admittance to the manor house. It's fiendishly sharp spikes seem to claw at the air. Two brick pillars uphold the rusting gate. Metal plaques, corrupted with decades of rust and lettering in a strange alphabet are set within the pillars. A stout though corroded lock hampers your admittance.

Track 15: The Walls

The slate walls surrounding this macabre manor loom upward before you. Cracks run like spider webs across the surface of the forbidding stonework. Despite the toll time has taken on the wall you suspect it could withstand even an angry giant.

Track 16: The Stables

At the end of a partially overgrown carriage way you find a small stable. Some of its walls have been felled by vines over the years, but the hitching post and water trough have been kept clear of growth. Within the stables stand the motionless skeletons of six horses. Twelve sightless sockets gaze upon you and their bony jaws seem to grin at some silent joke. Could they be waiting for you? <Sound of horse neighing>

Track 17: The Reflecting Pool

<Sounds of water dripping and bugs buzzing>

The tangled over-grown shrubs reveal a long narrow pool placed before the manor house to reflect the image of the building. The pool is now covered with a thick scum. The stagnant water yields a foul odor as well as a sickly mist. A faint disturbance ripples through the pond's layer of algae. Is something there? Unlikely, for what could live in those murky, tainted depths.

Track 18: The Garden

The remains of a long neglected garden spread before you. Brambled from overgrown bushed clutch your clothing, the rose's thorny limbs cling tenaciously. The cloying aroma of strange blossoms hangs in the air as does a visible haze of yellow pollen. Is the sweet scent perfume, or poison?

Track 19: The Courtyard

The tangled grass gives way to the stone pavement of a courtyard. The rampant growth of greenery elsewhere on the manor ground seems restrained here, because the walls of Tergeron Manor embrace three sides of the courtyard, though perhaps smothers might be a better word. The tower to which the rest of the manor seems to have been anchored rises high in the air spreading the light at it's top uselessly out into the night like a lighthouse long desserted by the sea. What sinister powers might this beacon be beckoning?

Track 20: The Back Door

Looming up on either side of you are the slate walls surrounding the estate and the even higher and the more forbidding walls of the manor itself. The narrow quarters lean toward you with a perceptible tilt. Only the faintest rays of light spill down into this dismal place. <Sounds of wood creeking> The rotting floor of the porch creeks loudly, an ominous sound when you are trying to be quiet. The cold immovable barrier of the manor's back door seems somehow shockingly solid in contrast.

Track 21: The Topiary

The tangled growth in one corner of the garden gives way to an area populated by trees and shrubs, which have been pruned topiary style. The menacing shapes resemble the forms of broken men and women. Deformed arms sway towards you, seemingly with sinister intent. The botanical nightmares reach for you, the soft yew branches scraping your skin. It feels as if hundreds of tiny hands are clutching at you.

Track 22: Lambert's Phantasm

<"Aargh!">

From between two topiaries, a knight dressed in glinting armor and wielding a battle axe advances upon you, his gleaming eyes fixed on a point past your head. <Sounds of the previous battle between the knight and Morgoroth in the background and "Morgoroth!">The knight stumbles back, though why, you do not know. As the man falls to his knees a chill creeps along your spine, you can see through the knight to the twisted shrubs behind his transparent body. <"Morgoroth, I curse you even as I die.">The fallen man slumps to the ground, light glinting off the bitter edge of the battle axe. Then as abruptly as the knight appears, he vanishes.

Track 23: The Graveyard

<Sounds of an organ in the background>

Surrounding the western side of the manor are rows of white slabs rising like uniformed soldiers from the earth. These tombstones are all without names. Who would bury so many dead without giving them the respect all life deserves? Who would mourn so little the passing of so many lives?

Track 24: Greenhouse

The glass walls and ceiling of this room are iced over with heavy frost. The greenhouse is held together by a strange metal framework faintly reminiscent of a web spun by some mechanical spider. The remnants of dead plants line the walls. The air here is frigid and roiling with condensation. Moisture begins to bead on your skin, sliding across your flesh with icy tendrils.

Track 25: Storage

<Sounds of footsteps>

The sounds of your footfalls echos forlornly off the frost covered stone walls of this large storage area. The air here is cold and dry and your breath shimmers whitely as you breathe. A stale, musty odor assails your nose, reminding you of an old spice cupboard or a root cellar. Crates and barrels, all unmarked and intact, occupy much of the room. A rack on one wall holds rakes, scythes, and other gardening implements. All normal enough equipment you think, then you see the half dozen boxes lining the south wall; they look rather like coffins. In the northwest corner a sturdy set of wooden steps runs up the side of the wall to a landing, then turns against another wall and ends at a trapdoor in the ceiling. This door is the only other egress from the room, but where can it lead?

Track 26: Grand Entrance Hall

<Sound of door opening, faint sounds of a crowd>

A pair of guilded doors separates the courtyard from the entrance hall. Moonlight from outside shimmers through the door's delicate glass and streaks across the black and white tiles of the marble floor. Sparkling in the wan light are thousands of gleaming fragments of glass, remnants of shattered crystal chandelier lying in the center of the room. Twin stairwells, both richly carpeted and bordered by intricately carved mahogany banisters rise up and end at decorative doors on the floor above. The whole effect is very grand, but also cold and forbidding.

Track 27: West Closet

<Sound of door opening>

A torrent of hot air rushes past you as the door to this closet is opened. The acrid smell of smoke and something else, perhaps brimstone assaults your senses. Moments later, however, the painful heat is gone, replaced by the chill of the manor house again. Oddly, the interior of the large bare closet yields no clue as to the source of heat.

Track 28: East Closet

<Sound of struggling with door>

You struggle to open the door to this closet, the wood seeming to be impossibly heavy, or could there be someone holding the door shut from the other side? But, no, the door slowly opens < sound of door opening> and then < sound of hideous laughter> the door is wrenched from your hands and

slammed shut. What foulness is this?

Track 29: Door Exploding

<Sound of greater struggling with the door>

You struggle mightily against the door trying to open it again and confront the horror that lies inside. The door bursts open and outward and literally slamming into you. <Sound of insane laughter and electrical charges> Suddenly the door is ripped off its hinges smashing you into the opposite wall.

Track 30: Gallery

<Sound of door opening>

Double doors of ornately carved mahogany swing wide to allow your entrance into the gallery. This elegant room is paved in the same black and white checkerboard as the entrance hall. But its walls are lined with velvet drapes, the color of mulberries. As you enter the gallery you are startled to find a cluster of knightly statues frozen in battle. Their faces are contorted in horror, as if making a last futile stand against an unseen and unknown enemy. What massacre is forever enshrined in this room?

<Sounds of thunder>

Track 31: Parlor

<Sound of door opening>

The double doors to this room hang from wrenched hinges and nearly fall off in the faint disturbance caused by your passing. Inside the reason for the door's condition becomes clear, a tremendous explosion took place here at some point. The walls of the parlor are blackened with heat, the fine fabric scorched. The carpet is nothing but burnt ashes and bits of frayed wool and the furniture, save for a huge Chival mirror, is shattered and charred. The frame of the mirror is intact and surprisingly unscathed, but the glass is missing leaving only the back of the mirror in place. A series of lines are burnt into the wood. Forming the outline of what appears to be a puzzle or could they be the image of the thirteen shards. One such fragment lies amidst the ashes at the base of the mirror; it's brightness glinting in the dust.

Track 32: Placing Shards In Frame

<Sounds of piano and faint laughter>

Dominating this room is an immense table, draped in the finest white linen and set with porcelain bisque china, cut crystal and golden utensils. Four elaborate candelabra, each holding a dozen white candles and a single black one, serve to break up the long expanse of the table. Two silver chandeliers hang from the ceiling, swaying gently in some unknown breeze. Each of the four arms holds a dozen white tapers, surrounding a black one.

Track 33: Dining Room

<Sound of footsteps>

A wrought-iron stove dominates the northwest corner of the kitchen and pots and pans line the walls, as do racks of cutlery. A pump and basin occupy the northeast corner, though there's no sign of water. The air here is bitterly cold. <Sound of a rushing wind>

Track 34: Kitchen

<Sound of footsteps>

Just off the kitchen is a pantry lined with shelves containing numerous jars each filled with fruits or vegetables. Dried meats hang from hooks and barrels, presumably filled with flour, sugar, and the like line the south wall. Oddly the food shows no sign of decay, nor is there any dust. Could there be a natural explanation for this?

Track 35: Pantry

The long hallway before you is lined with plush red carpeting, subduing all noise and lending the area an unearthly quiet. The eerieness is enhanced by a dozen sets of armor, each holding a long sword in battle readiness. A strange icy-blue glow emanates from a trio of glass spheres hanging from the ceiling.

Track 36: Hallway

The stone walls in the storage chamber are bare save for the wooden shelves lining them. Linens of various sorts are neatly folded and stacked on the shelves. Frost clings to the fabrics and walls and your breath swirls out in white waves away from your face.

Track 37: Linen Storage

<Sounds of footsteps>

A brass bed is centered on the north wall of this comfortable guest bedroom. A brown covered velvet charge rests before the marble fireplace, which is devoid of wood or heat. An empty armoire with it's doors open wide completes the picture. Patches of ice have formed in low spots on the floor, while frost covers all the metal surfaces in the room as well as a gleaming shard of glass resting on the bed.

Track 38: Guest Bedroom

<Sounds of a piano>

A luxurious curtained bed dominated this guest chamber. It is an elegant bedroom, richly appointed with guilt and velvet. An ornately carved marble fireplace is set with logs ready to burst into flame. A leather chair and mahogany writing table complete the chamber. There seems nothing of note, here in this room, save perhaps for what might lie inside the bed.

Track 39: Ferran's Bedroom

<Sounds of a piano>

An air of a gloomy solemnity hangs about the room, seeming to increase as you near the bed. As you draw back the curtains you catch a glimpse of aged tarnished metal and then the armor of a knight lying in state, and then the corrupt, desiccated remains of the knight himself. <Sounds of someone dying> A broken sword and crushed shield lie at the forgotten knight's feet while a helmet rests at the man's head.

Track 40: Bathroom

Oddly the bathroom seems to have suffered considerable damage over the years. The hand pump in the corner is rusted to the point of uselessness. A tub carved of some porous stone is lined with frost, radiating the cold. Shelves line one wall, holding an assortment of perfumes, oils, toiletries and fabrics.

Track 41: Master Bedroom

By far the most luxurious room in the entire manor, the master bedroom is bedecked with silken draperies lining the walls and a massive four poster bed. A fireplace runs the length of one entire wall, stocked with wood and ready to be ignited. A strange glass orb hangs from a chain directly above the bed. It glows dimly, shedding an amber light that touches the room. Perhaps the orb gives off heat as well, for the room seems less chilled than the others in this macabre manor.

Track 42: Master Bathroom

<Sound of tinkling glass>

A dizzying array of black and white tiles confronts the viewer in a checkerboard pattern, lining not only the floor, but the walls and ceiling as well. After blinking once or twice to orient your vision, you see shelves containing an assortment of toiletries. A porcelain bathtub, ornamented with guilt rests in the center of the room. Oddly water was left inside the tub, which is now turned to ice. A piece of silver glass glimmers in the center.

Track 43: Closet

Men's garments are located here inside the master bedroom's closet. All are constructed of some black material, an inky cloth that seems to absorb light.

Track 44: Laboratory

The room before you is overwhelming with its touches of the fantastic, the scientific, and the macabre. It is a wizard's laboratory, and you have never seen one more elaborate, or better stocked. Shelves lining the north wall contain all manner of boxes, bottles, vial, decanters, beakers and the like. They're all marked clearly in a language unlike any you have ever seen. An oak ladder anchored to the top of the shelves, many feet above, is fixed with wheels at its base providing access to all the shelves. Unusual items, such as metal pellets, round quartz, bat wings and rodent skulls are scattered throughout the room, along with something that looks suspiciously like a human heart preserved inside a glass container. The south wall is also lined with shelves and fitted with a rolling ladder, but the goods stocked here are beakers, burners, scales and other laboratory equipment. Half a dozen worktables are scattered about the room; apparently devoted to different experiments. A creeping horror steals over you as you realize the dried substance in one set of tubing must surely have been blood.

Track 45: Library

You step into the hall of an immense library. It's walls soar upward filled with literally thousands of books, scrolls and tablets and the musty odor of ancient tomes, inks and crumbling papers. A trio of mahogany tables, partnered with comfortable leather covered chairs are scattered throughout the room. Two of the tables are set with inkwells, stacks of paper, quill pens and charcoal pencils-all perfectly ordinary items for a library. The third table holds something equally appropriate for a library, a massive tome fully three feet long and more than a foot thick. It is covered with gleaming black leather, free of dust, and is sealed with an ornate golden clasp. Strangest of all is the shimmering blue aura surrounding the tome. Every know and then the aura sparks and glimmers with fragments of light, all glinting off the silvered shard of glass lying atop the book.

Track 46: Alchemical Storage

Bitter odors from the caustic acids mingle with the frigid chill in the darkened chamber. The air bites at your nostrils and stings your eyes. Indeed the place is so tainted with strange chemicals that your exposed skin begins to itch. Despite the blurred vision of your tearing eyes you can see this room is filled with small crates and barrels, all are unmarked and sealed with tiny silver locks. In fact, the chamber looks like nothing other than a miniature warehouse.

Track 47: Bell Ropes

This room, colder than any others on the previous floors, is filled with cobwebs. The disturbed dust sparkles in the light. A fine layer of grit carpets the floor, unmarked by either man or beast. Numerous ropes dangle motionless from holes in the ceiling above. Despite the faint breeze that drifts through the room the bell pulls do not sway. Amber light shines down through the holes illuminating the pulls.

Track 48: Cells

The bone-numbing cold of this room assaults you as you enter its dark depths. Then something more insidious touches your senses, an odor of decay and corruption so foul you nearly wretch. The source of this evil stench is the half-decaying bodies of prisoners held behind iron bars in small cells throughout the room. Some of the cells are piled high with bodies in various stages of decay, as if prisons were shut in with what remained of past victims. At the far end of the room a body lies crumpled on the floor outside a cell. Unlike the prisoners in the cells who wear the garb of common folk, this woman is dressed in armor and wears a sword at her side. Clutched in the desiccated remains of her hand is a gleaming piece of glass.

Track 49: Bell Tower

You have entered a room with a steepled roof soaring high above you. Only the bottom half of the walls are enclosed. A trio of giant brass bells and a dozen lesser carillons hang from a massive wooden beam, hanging from the center of the room. Fifteen ropes lead from the bells, through holes in the floor and down to the room below. Directly beneath the bells is a table wrought of delicately spun silver, it's surface a gleaming mirror. It is a thing of beauty in this bitter cold and on its surface rests the spectacle of a coffin. It seems to have been fashioned from a single piece of glass, which reflects the light and obscures it's contents. A still wind whirls suddenly through the room, clawing at your clothes and stinging your eyes and skin. With every breath a cloud of white steam quickly crystalizes and forms a thin layer of frost on all it touches. But still you draw nearer to the coffin and look through the glass <pause> to find the perfectly preserved remains of a beautiful young woman. Aurora Shadowborn, beloved of Morgoroth, rests in a bridal gown of blackest velvet. As you ponder the spectacle of such beauty and youth wasted you catch the faintest rise of her breast, and you realize she is not dead. She is alive.

Track 50: The Necromancer Returns

A brilliant glow envelops the mirror as it finished the tale of Morgoroth's folly. <Sound of glass shards ringing> The light quickly brightens to white intensity, hurting your eyes and threatening to blind you. The caustic smell of sulfur claws at your throat and a wave of blistering heat singes the hair on your exposed skin, as you throw up your hands instinctively, to block the assault. Suddenly the bright light, the heat, and even the stench are gone. The frigid chill of Tergeron bites once more into your flesh, the cold air searing your lungs. Through the tears stinging your eyes you notice that the mirror is once again whole. Visible with its depths is the image of a painfully thin, but still distinguished, man. The reflection steps forward smoothly, and emerges from the mirror as if it were a doorway. <Sounds of footsteps> The man smiles broadly, with a predatory gleam in his eyes.

"Let the world beware, Morgoroth has returned" <Sound of menacing laughter>

Track 51: The Necromancer Falls

<Sounds of magic>

With this last attack the evil wizard staggers backwards, then falls to

his knees. His eyes lock with yours. <Sounds of agony> <Sounds of spell casting> With his last enchantment Morgoroth falls forward and lies motionless on the floor.

Track 52: The Necromancer's Fate

Morgoroth cries out in agony, as your attack catches him unprepared. <Sounds of agony> <Sounds of death> Even as the evil mage falls to the floor a misty form rises from his body. For the briefest moment the valor floats above Morgoroth's still form, then the mist is forcibly sucked back into the mirror. <Sounds of a sucking wind and exploding mirror> Shards of glass burst from the frame, scattered far and wide by the force of this strange magical detonation. <Sounds of magic> The fragments vanish ethereally through the walls.

Track 53: The Necromancer's Doom

Your surmise that the mirror is Morgoroth's weakness is correct. As you attack the mirror with magic and might, Morgoroth. <Sounds of magic, "Aargh!" then breaking glass>

<Sounds of crying and despair>

"No... Not..."

<Sounds of an explosion>

Morgoroth falls to the floor, surrounded by the shattered mirror and splintered wood. He twitches once or twice and then is still. The evil mage is dead.

Track 54: The Crystal Coffin

Despite your best efforts you can find no openings to the coffin containing Aurora Shadowborn. Further, all your attempts to shatter the crystal have failed whether by magic or by might. The belfry is bitterly cold, your feet and hands are nearly cold and you stumble as you walk away from the coffin. To halt your fall however, you reach for the nearest thing - a bell rope. <Sound of a bell ringing> Oddly it seems that the room is warming slightly, but perhaps that's only yet another trick of this misbegotten manor house.

Track 55: The Pealing Of The Bells

An idea dawns on you and you begin to pull on the bell ropes. <Sound of bells ringing> Frantically you and your comrades run about trying to set all the bells into motion. The noise is nearly deafening, but still you struggle on. <Continued sounds of bells ringing>

Track 56: Back From The Dead

The crystal coffin shatters <Sound of glass shattering>, though strangely no shards land on the priestess or the table on which the coffin rests.

The young woman struggles for life and awareness.

<Sounds of a female gasping>

"Ah, Where...? How...? I don't..."

Aurora Shadowborn's violet eyes meet yours in confusion. "What has happened to me?" her eyes silently plead. The words "will you help me" form on her soft lips.

Track 57: The Necromancer's Desperation

<Sounds of magic>

"Aargh! No! You can't have her. She's mine I tell you. Attack them my minions. Kill them, so they may join us." <Sounds of maniacal laughter, spirits, and magic>

Track 58: The Silver Portal

Your hand lightly touches the silver surface of the table that once held the priestess, Aurora Shadowborn. Without warning, and with tremendous speed, you are pulled into the tables mirrored surface. You have no time to react. Your companions are lost to you as well. Where you are now is the only thing that is real, but where is that?

Track 59: Returning Home

You are in a strange other world of endless reflections. You have no concept of up or down, nor are you touching anything of substance. You cannot hear or smell anything, and your eyes are assaulted by image, after image, after image, after image, after image. <Sounds of something streaking past you > All relentlessly reflected back at you. For when will this strange journey ever end. Yours eyes close to blot out the painful visions. How long a time has passed you cannot know, but your eyes at last slowly open and you find yourself home again, safe and whole.

Track 60: Thunderstorm Track 61: Wind Moaning Track 62: Tavern Chatter Track 63: Lab Sounds **Track 64: Chanting** Track 65: Wolves Howling Track 66: Heartbeat Track 67: Monster Roar **Track 68: Church Bells** Track 69: Sobbing Woman Track 70: Ghosts Shrieking Track 71: Running Footsteps Track 72: Mob Voices Track 73: Mad Laughter Track 74: Sinister Laughter Track 75: Screaming Man Track 76: Screaming Woman Track 77: Bug Chatter

Track 78: Creaky Door Track 79: Night Forest Sounds Track 80: Window Shattering Track 81: Whip Cracking Track 82: Clock Chiming Midnight Track 83: Clockwork Track 84: Menacing Whispers Track 85: Sobbing Track 86: Insane Ranting Track 87: Magical Radiance

Errata

Page 9

Track 80 is listed as "night sounds." The correct track is track 79.

Page 13

Track 80 is listed as "creaking door." The correct track is track 78.

Pages 15, 17, 20-26

Track 89 is listed as "magical radiance." The correct track is track 87.

Designer: William W. Connors CD Script Writer: Dori Hein Editor: David Wise Project Coordination: Harold Johnson Cover Art: Robh Ruppel Interior Art: Mark Nelson Graphics Coordination: Paul Jaquays Art Coordination: Peggy Cooper Cartography: David C. Sutherland III Typography: Angelika Lokotz

With sincerest thanks and deepest gratitude to the Design and Development staff at TSR, Inc. There are no better people in the world.

Advanced Dungeons & Dragons, AD&D, Dungeon Master, Monstrous Compendium, Ravenloft, and Forgotten Realms are registered trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. Mystara, Monstrous Manual, and the TSR logo are trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. All TSR characters, character names, and the distinctive linknesses thereof are trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. (c) 1995 TSR, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Printed in the U.S.A. Random House and its affiliate companies have worldwide distribution right in the book trade for English-language products of TSR, Inc. Distributed to the book and hobby trade in the United Kingdom by TSR Ltd. This material is protected under the copyright laws of the United States of America. Any reproduction or unauthorized use of the material or artwork contained herein is prohibited without the express written consent of TSR, Inc.

Dungeons&Dragons®



by William W. Connors

"The only thing more fragile than glass is a lover's heart."

— A Vistani Proverb

mood

music, TSR's

Interactive Audio CD. As players

manor, they will actually hear the

explore Morgoroth's dreadfilled

lamentations of tortured spir-

its, the clash of swords and the thunderous roar of

to the horror of Ravenloft.

magic. With almost

100 tracks of

dialogue,

sound

effects

and

ecades ago, the fair land of Avonleigh was guarded by an order of paladins known as the Circle. One stormy night, a wizard named Morgoroth came to seek refuge with them.

But, all was not as it seemed! Morgoroth was no mere wizard; he was a necromancer on the run from a knightly brotherhood that had vowed to see him destroyed! When fate revealed his past, he betrayed the Circle and fled.

Can your heroes complete the crusade that destroyed the Circle? Can they learn the secrets of Morgoroth's power before the necromancer destroys them? Accept the quest if you dare. . . .

A Light in the Belfry is the first RAVENLOFT[®] adventure to feature an

TSR, Inc. 201 Sheridan Springs Rd. Lake Geneva WI 53147 (J.S.A.



TSR Ltd. 120 Church End Cherry Hinton Cambridge CB1 3LB United Kingdom

Sug. Retail: \$15.00 U.S. \$22.00 CAN £11.99 U.K. Incl.VAT

ADVANCED DUNGEONS & DRAGONS and RAVENLOFT are registered trademarks owned by TSR, Inc. The TSR logo is a trademark owned by TSR, Inc. ©1995 TSR, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Printed in the U.S.A.



Interactive Audio CD

Adventures add a new dimension

9494





AUDIO CD CREDITS

Executive Producer: Producer: Interactive Director: Writer: Original Score by: Music Performed & Produced by: Music Engineered by: Flinte Dille Gordon Hookailo Buzz Dixon Dori Hein Craig Stuart Garfinkle Craig Stuart Garfinkle Josh Schneider

Look for these other exciting TSR Interactive Audio CD Game products at book, game, and hobby stores everywhere!

Introduction to the ADVANCED DUNGEONS & DRAGONS[®] Game KARAMEIKOS[™]: Kingdom of Adventure Campaign Setting MYSTARA[™] Night of the Vampire Adventure AD&D[®] RED STEEL[™] Campaign Expansion TERROR T.R.A.X.[™] Track of the Werewolf CD Quest Adventure TERROR T.R.A.X. Track of the Vampire CD Quest Adventure

® and [™] designate trademarks owned by TSR, Inc.

©1995 TSR, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Manufactured in the United States of America.

This material is protected under the copyright laws of the United States of America. Any reproduction or unauthorized use of the material or artwork contained herein is prohibited without the express written permission of TSR, Inc.



TSR, Inc. 201 Sheridan Springs Rd. Lake Geneva WI 53147 (J.S.A.



TSR Ltd. 120 Church End Cherry Hinton Cambridge CB1 3LB United Kingdom